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Member practices’ introduction 
Over this past year we have established ourselves as the lead commissioner for health services 
across the Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield localities. We cover a huge geographical 
area, which includes some of the most deprived communities in England and some of the most 
rural areas of the country. 

Our member practices have worked closely together for some 20 years now. This has made it an 
easy task to engage our GPs in the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) but it has not allowed us 
to develop primary care at scale. We have therefore restructured the CCG over this last year, 
bringing all 40 practices closer together and meeting face to face more often than ever before. 

We are committed to improving clinical engagement in the CCG. We have from the outset had a 
clinical accountable officer and clinicians as directors of the organisation. In addition we have 
developed locality leads, quality leads, prescribing leads and clinical champions. They will 
ensure that clinicians are involved in leading the development of our strategy and our 
commissioning intentions. They will also be involved in making sure we use our resources 
efficiently and that we drive up the quality of care that is provided for our population. 

However we cannot do this alone and we have worked hard to engage our public and our 
partner organisations in everything that we do. 

Patient engagement is key to the way we work and to ensure we have true engagement we have 
developed patient reference groups in each of our localities and patient groups in each of our 40 
practices. We have patients represented at our locality meetings and have a lay chair and a 
further two lay members on our governing body. We hold regular public meetings and engage 
with the public through My NHS, our webpage, our Facebook page and through the local media.  

Over this last year we have been involved in the establishment of the health and wellbeing 
board with our local authority partners in Durham and as a CCG we hold the vice chair position 
on that board. 

We have worked closely with all of our local hospital trusts across Durham, Tees and 
Sunderland. We have worked with the voluntary sector and with our local health networks. 

We meet regularly with CCGs across the whole of the North East to consider the regional 
implications of our commissioning decisions and work closely with our neighbouring CCG in 
North Durham through our newly formed unit of planning. 

In our first year as a CCG we have led a number of service reviews that will enable us to re-
commission some of those services in our second year with the aim of making them better for 
our local communities. 

The reviews included community nursing, urgent care centres, community-based diabetes 
clinics, ambulance services and a range of other services that we believe can be better delivered 
in primary care. 

We have also changed a number of clinical pathways and they are detailed later in this report.  
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We were named Commissioner of the year in the 2013 general practice awards for improving 
the care of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. We also won an award in the 
Pharma Times partnerships awards for redesigning a pathway for patients with urological 
problems. 

Although the CCG does not, at present, commission primary care services, we did open up many 
of our GP surgeries at weekends over this last winter. The scheme was so popular with patients 
that we extended the scheme in to the summer. This year we will consider how we can make 
this service sustainable throughout the year. 

We believe that we have successfully implemented a number of improvements over this first 
year as a new commissioning organisation. We will continue to commission high quality, safe 
and cost effective services in the future. 

Within the following report, we have highlighted our successes from 2013 but have also set out 
our longer-term ambition to improve healthcare across the whole of the DDES area in the years 
to come. 
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Strategic report 
The purpose of the strategic report is to both inform and assess how we have performed over 
the last year. 

About us  
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG was established and licenced as a statutory 
health body on 1 April 2013 through the NHS and Social Care Act 2012. The CCG is responsible 
for the planning and buying of health care services for people that live and use services across 
the geographical area that the CCG covers. This includes health services that are delivered in 
both an emergency and in a planned way. These services include: 

• planned and emergency hospital care 
• rehabilitation and intermediate care services 
• community services such as community and district nursing 
• mental health services 
• learning disability services 

We also arrange emergency and urgent care services throughout the area and commission 
services for any unregistered patients who live locally. 

CCGs are clinically-led organisations that bring together a range of healthcare professionals 
such as GPs and nurses with managers to use their knowledge about healthcare and the local 
population in order to develop services that meet their patients’ needs. As statutory 
organisations CCGs should: 

• offer patients greater choice and control in how their health and care needs are met 
• provide a greater focus on improving health outcomes 
• improve the quality and consistency of health care services delivered  
• understand and plan for the healthcare needs of patients now and in the future 
• purchase high quality services that offer value for money 
• develop and design services in partnership with patients, the public, clinicians and other key 

stakeholders 

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG is made up of 40 member GP practices and 
services a population of approximately 272,000 spread across a large and diverse geographical 
area. As a CCG we want to provide local models of service that meet the needs of the distinct 
communities in our three localities.  

Durham Dales  
Durham Dales has a population of 90,500 people some of whom reside in small urban areas but 
the majority are in large rural areas. This locality covers 540 square miles and offers significant 
challenges to delivering healthcare. Local health services are mainly delivered through its 12 GP 
practices. 
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Easington 
Easington has a population of 94,000 people in a mixture of urban and rural areas, however the 
two main towns are Seaham and Peterlee with populations of over 20,000 people. This area is 
one of the most deprived nationally and its population has very significant health challenges 
and poorer health outcomes than most other areas across the CCG. The locality area covered by 
Easington is approximately 145 square km and local health services are delivered mainly 
through 17 GP practices. 

Sedgefield  
Sedgefield has a population of 87,700 people and the majority of the population lives within 
towns of Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor, Shildon and Ferryhill. There are some small villages and 
coalfield communities in the more rural eastern area. This locality covers 217 square km and 
local health services are delivered mainly through its 11 GP practices. 

Our priorities 
The main health challenges facing the communities across Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield are linked to an increasingly ageing population that has significant and complex long-
term conditions. In addition, an increasing number of people have poor health relating to 
conditions such as obesity, stroke, depression, dementia, coronary heart disease and premature 
death, all of which result in significant health inequalities. The population also faces higher than 
average unemployment rates, severe deprivation, poor housing, an industrial heritage and 
isolation in many of our rural communities all of which contribute to the significant health 
inequalities across the CCG and the complex health profile of the CCG. 

In considering the future health needs in our area, we have worked with local people, partners 
and stakeholders to develop the following healthcare priorities:  

• improving the health of the populations of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
• making sure our children and young people have a better start in life 
• tackling the challenges of an ageing and growing population 
• making services more accessible and responsive to the needs of our communities 
• managing our resources effectively and responsibly 

Improving local health services 
Over the last year we have worked hard to improve and develop local services. We have done 
this with our local NHS and non-NHS healthcare providers, patients, key stakeholders and GP 
practices to ensure that we deliver the highest quality, most cost-effective and relevant NHS 
provision, to benefit and improve the health and wellbeing of local people. 

In order to achieve our vision of excellent health for Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield we 
have developed a range of new and innovative services, some of which are outlined below. 

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield were awarded ‘Commissioners of the year’ at the 2013 
general practice awards for our chronic obstructive pulmonary disease service improvement. 
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We are rolling out a programme to tackle chronic obstructive pulmonary disease following a 
successful pilot that resulted in a 14% reduction in hospital admissions. The scheme is designed 
to improve the standard of care that patients receive at their GP surgery and to encourage them 
to become more involved in the management of their condition. We have also extended 
pulmonary rehabilitation to all our localities.  

Community first responders 
Across the localities we have many rural areas and in order to get help to patients quickly in an 
emergency we trained 30 volunteers as first responders. They use their own vehicles and are 
supplied with pagers from the north-east ambulance service. They also carry and are trained to 
use a defibrillator and oxygen. We have seen an improvement in ambulance response times 
since their introduction. 

Diabetes 
We successfully piloted a community diabetes scheme last year that allowed patients to access 
specialist care in their own GP surgeries. This was popular with GPs and patients alike. We will 
be working with North Tees and Hartlepool Foundation Trust to continue this scheme and to 
move as many diabetes clinics as possible into the community and closer to people’s homes. We 
hope to be in a position to commission a new community diabetes service in 2015. 

Partnership working  
This year also saw the successful transfer of emergency medical and critical care services from 
the University Hospital of Hartlepool to the University Hospital of North Tees following a 
national clinical advisory team report which concluded that providing critical care on two sites 
was not sustainable in the long-term. It recommended the centralisation of critical care and 
emergency medicine services as soon as possible. We worked closely with neighbouring NHS 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG to seek the views of local people about the change and 
following on from this, the service successfully relocated in November 2013. 

Diagnostics 
In order to decrease waiting times for ultrasound examinations we have commissioned an 
additional ultrasound service from the Woodlands Hospital in Darlington. This allows patients 
to access routine examinations more quickly and frees up our local hospital to respond to 
urgent cases. 

We have also worked with County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust to support an 
investment of £250,000 to upgrade x-ray facilities at Sedgefield Community Hospital. The new 
state-of-the-art equipment means that people can now access services closer to where they 
work and live.  

Rapid access 

Deep vein thrombosis 
GPs in the Durham Dales and Sedgefield localities have been looking after patients with blood 
clots in the community for a number of years and this year we extended our scheme to the 
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Easington locality. This has prevented many patients unnecessarily attending hospital as an 
emergency.  

Palpitations 
We are extending the assessment of patients with palpitations to all of Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield. 

Moles and lesions  
We offered people with moles or lesions the opportunity to have them checked out much more 
quickly by introducing a pilot programme in the Sedgefield area. Patients who were concerned 
about moles or lesions could visit their GP where a dermatoscope was used to investigate 
further. The GP could then refer them for further tests or treatment if necessary. The scheme 
ensured that patients had their skin conditions assessed quickly, improving the early detection 
of skin cancer and reducing the number of patients referred for a hospital appointment. In the 
Durham Dales area we have used teledermatology to send pictures of lesions to a dermatologist 
for a rapid opinion. The two schemes are currently undergoing evaluation. 

Urology pilot 
Earlier this year in the Durham Dales area we ran a pilot scheme for people with bladder 
problems. The nurse-led urology service provided rapid access for patients suffering from a 
range of symptoms. Appointments were available in community settings within five working 
days, ensuring people were able to access help and support in how to manage their own 
condition, at a location closer to home. Local GPs were involved in developing the new service, 
which resulted in a decrease in the number of people unnecessarily having to use hospital 
services. We are now considering a similar scheme for the Easington area. The pilot recently 
won the Pharma Times partnerships in health award.  

Clinical quality assurance framework 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield has been working together with neighbouring CCGs 
and we have developed a robust approach to responding to and dealing with commissioning 
concerns highlighted in the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust inquiry. This has allowed 
us to consider a wide range of information gathered from many different sources including 
patients, the general public and local NHS organisations and to use this to challenge and support 
our provider organisations to improve the quality of their services.  

Commissioning assurance visits 
We have been working collaboratively with neighbouring CCGs in County Durham and 
Darlington to establish a programme of commissioning assurance visits across our care 
providers. We have visited acute hospitals, mental health services, ambulance trusts and 
independent and community care providers to ensure that patients are well cared for in a 
suitable environment. Good practice is shared and areas for improvement acted upon and 
monitored through the clinical quality review processes.  

Integrated short-term intervention service (ISIS) 
Working together with NHS North Durham CCG, Durham County Council, County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, we 
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have recently introduced a new service that provides intermediate health and social care from a 
single access point 24 hours a day, seven days a week. ISIS brings together a range of existing 
provider organisations into a single, integrated hub, ensuring a more joined-up approach to 
care. The benefits of the new service include improved support for some of our most vulnerable 
patients and easy access to support services both during the daytime and out-of-hours. It will 
also support more timely hospital discharges and help to avoid the need for admission or 
readmission to hospital. 

GP weekend opening  
The CCG responded to patients’ requests by extending our GP opening hours over the busy 
winter period. Most GP practices have been offering pre-bookable weekend appointments and 
walk-in appointments, as well as urgent appointments organised through the NHS 111 
telephone service. The scheme, which is part of our urgent care strategy, was designed to 
improve access to GPs as well as to reduce the pressure on hospital A&E and urgent care 
departments, allowing them to concentrate on more urgent cases.  

Promoting health  
Over the last year NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG has supported a number of 
high profile health campaigns, developed to increase awareness of symptoms, improve 
wellbeing and promote local healthcare services.  

The Keep calm campaign addressed the increasing demand for NHS services during winter 
months and advised local people to treat a range of common winter ailments by keeping a well-
stocked medicine cabinet at home or by speaking to their local pharmacist – with no need to see 
a doctor or nurse. The seven week long campaign was launched in November and featured on 
regional TV adverts, buses, social media, printed materials in GP practices, pharmacies and in 
other venues across the region, and included a dedicated website 
www.keepcalmthiswinter.org.uk. The campaign reached a projected 1.38 million people. 

Working alongside NHS North Durham CCG we launched a high profile campaign aimed 
at reducing unnecessary medicines waste. Currently, unused medicines cost the local 
NHS around £2 million each year – money that could be used to improve local health 
services. The campaign encouraged people to only order what they needed, return their 
unwanted medicines to their pharmacy for safe disposal, take their medicines with 
them when they go into hospital, have regular reviews of their medicines and discuss 
any medication issues with their GP or pharmacist in order to minimise any medicine 
wastage.  

Listening to local people 
In order to realise our vision for local healthcare, we work closely with local people, patients, 
stakeholders and partners. Over the year we have developed a wide range of activities that 
allow people to participate in the decision-making process and have their say in all aspects of 
the CCG plans. This has resulted in local people being involved in many developments such as 
urgent care, intermediate care, end-of-life care, stroke services, asthma care for young people, 
review of mental health crisis services, review of speech and language therapy services amongst 
others: 

http://h
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GP practice participation groups  
These have been set up in almost all of the GP practices across our area. These groups give local 
people a say about how their local GP surgery services can be improved as well as opportunities 
to get involved in the work of the CCG. Involvement can take different forms, from attending 
meetings to being part of a virtual group. 

Locality patient reference groups  
These groups enable patients, carers and members of the public to contribute to the 
development of local healthcare priorities and to influence and be involved in the 
commissioning of local health services. Membership is drawn from practice participation 
groups. These groups meet regularly and discussions have included the Care Quality 
Commission, A call to action, the Francis Report, Intermediate Care, My NHS and various CCG 
campaigns. 

My NHS 
Signing up to My NHS means that local people will have the opportunity to influence decisions 
about their healthcare, receive updates about local services and will be invited to events. During 
the year we held recruitment drives across the region and so far around 300 people have joined 
the scheme.  

Everyone interested in NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG that would like to get 
involved in the work we do to develop and improve local health services, is encouraged to join 
My NHS by registering online at www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/my-nhs or by calling 01642 745 046. 

Public events  
We organise regular public events where members of the public can meet with the CCG and give 
their views about local services. This year we have: 

• hosted a public meeting to discuss our response to the Francis Report, following failings at 
Mid-Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust 

• held an A call to action event which offered people the opportunity to learn more about the 
challenges facing health services locally and give their views on future plans 

• held public meetings in Peterlee and Sedgefield to discuss the planned transfer of emergency 
medical and critical care services from the University Hospital of Hartlepool to the University 
Hospital of North Tees 

Governing body 
Most of our governing body meetings were open to the public in 2013 so that the 
public can observe the governing body at work. From April 2014 all governing body 
meetings will be held in public. 

Website 
We launched a new website (www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk) which provides 
people with information about our services, a range of key documents such as the CCG 

http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/my-nhs/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/my-nhs/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
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prospectus and commissioning plans, feedback from governing body meetings, news and events 
and any proposed developments in health and social care in the region. There are also 
opportunities for people to get involved and have their say via interactive surveys held on the 
website.  

A Facebook page (www.facebook.com/ddesccg) has been set up to inform local people about 
the work of the CCG, offering them a place to voice their opinions. We currently have 196 
followers.  

Working in partnership  
As an NHS statutory body the CCG recognises the need to build strong links with organisations 
working across our area and this is one of our key objectives. Over the year we have developed 
and strengthened our relationships with a wide range of local partners including local hospitals 
and other healthcare providers, public health colleagues, Durham County Council, local 
community and voluntary sector organisations and Durham Healthwatch, a local independent 
body, which ensure that the views of people who use health and social care services are heard.  

We are a member of the County Durham health and wellbeing board and as such have 
contributed to the development of the County Durham joint health and wellbeing strategy, 
which aims to inform and influence decisions about health and social care services, so that they 
are focused on the needs of the people who use them and tackle the factors that affect health 
and wellbeing.  

As part of the implementation of the Department of Health policy document Everyone counts we 
are now working together in a unit of planning with North Durham CCG and Durham County 
Council, this involves our co-commissioners from NHS England and includes NHS provider 
organisations that we contract with. The aim of this approach is to ensure that the needs of all 
patients across County Durham are planned for in a cohesive manner. This approach allows the 
various partners to reflect and plan for any larger reconfiguration issues and to enable us to 
meet the needs of an increasingly older population. This has resulted in the development of the 
CCGs, two-year operational and five-year strategic plans in a cohesive and mature way. 

As a CCG we work in partnership with the public health team in Durham County Council to 
ensure we focus on population health needs and to ensure we also focus on the wider 
determinants of health. We have worked in partnership over the last twelve months on a 
number of key projects aimed to: 

• reduce smoking  
• improve healthy eating and obesity levels in the population 
• focus on the harm caused by alcohol misuse 
• improve the take up of NHS health checks  

Due to the high levels of ill health and, in particular, the higher than average death rate relating 
to cancers, focusing on a reduction in early deaths from cancer is a key priority for the CCG. In 
order to focus on those areas that will make the most difference to people’s health and the early 
detection of cancers the CCG has worked with public health to audit the cancer profile for the 

http://www.facebook.com/ddesccg
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county as a whole. This has identified key areas for action that are being built into the CCG 
cancer action plans. These include: 

• lung cancer death rates in women 
• bowel cancer death rates in men 
• focusing on more deprived communities 
• addressing variation in practice performance 

These will be addressed through both awareness and earlier diagnosis interventions and better 
clinical pathways. 

We also supported Be clear on cancer, a national campaign that aimed to raise public awareness 
of symptoms of cancer and encourage people to see their GP earlier.  

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG have joined forces with the East Durham, 
Dales and Sedgefield health networks, pledging to work more closely with voluntary and 
community organisations. The CCG and the three health networks signed a memorandum of 
understanding finalising our agreement to work together to build stronger links and identify a 
range of opportunities where we can work collaboratively for the benefit of the local 
community. The memorandum of understanding acknowledges that each party brings with it a 
range of skills, knowledge and experience that we have agreed to share for the mutual benefit of 
local healthcare services.  

The CCG recognises the value and impact the local voluntary sector has as a key contributor to 
promoting good health and as such we developed and supported a number of initiatives, both 
through the area action partnerships and directly with the voluntary sector. This has included 
offering places on specific training such as experience-led commissioning through to creating 
and committing funding in a number of ways. This also included the creation of a Dragons’ Den 
approach and the establishment of a mental health and wellbeing innovation fund. This fund has 
enabled local groups and organisations to promote mental health and wellbeing in their local 
community. This year we provided more than £100,000 to fund 16 innovative projects 
including: 

• helping the north-east Autism Society to support a healthy eating and exercise programme 
for toddlers with autism and associated learning difficulties 

• supporting Dawdon Youth and Community Centre to engage with vulnerable 7–11 year olds 
who are at risk of or are experiencing mental health issues 

• assisting Mind’s Stepping stones project to aid recovery and community integration for 
people with mental health issues 

• helping Murton Mams to implement Me time sessions for mothers, to improve mental health 
and wellbeing through social inclusion activities 

We are working with other CCGs across Teesside, Durham and Darlington to improve the 
quality of hospital care in our region. Over the past year, the Securing quality in health services 
project has focused on establishing the key clinical quality standards that should be 
commissioned in acute hospitals in the areas of paediatrics and maternity services, acute care 
and end of life care. Phase two of the project will support organisations to work towards the 
achievement of these standards. 
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Improving performance 
The CCG assurance framework, published by NHS England in November 2013, outlines the 
process to be used by NHS England to monitor and gain assurance on the performance of CCGs. 
This builds upon the interim CCG assurance framework published in May 2013 and the 
subsequent engagement process undertaken by NHS England to refine the framework. 

As part of the NHS England assurance process the NHS England area team holds quarterly 
assurance meetings with CCG, which, together with the production of a delivery dashboard 
(previously described as a ‘balanced scorecard’), provides information on the CCG performance 
against certain targets and metrics. 

The CCG assurance process has been designed to provide confidence to internal and external 
stakeholders and the wider public that CCGs are operating effectively to commission safe, high 
quality and sustainable services within their available resources. This framework sets out six 
broad assurance domains under which this assessment will be made. 

• Are patients receiving clinically commissioned, high quality services? 
• Are patients and the public actively engaged and involved? 
• Are CCG plans delivering better outcomes for patients? 
• Does the CCG have robust governance arrangements? 
• Is the CCG working in partnership with others? 
• Does the CCG have strong and robust leadership? 

The quarterly delivery dashboards are published on the CCG’s website once finalised, together 
with an overall assurance report received from NHS England summarising the outcome of the 
quarterly assurance meetings. 

These delivery dashboards present the latest performance against relevant targets contained 
within the NHS Constitution and the NHS outcomes framework, as well as certain other quality 
and financial indicators. 

Although performance against certain targets within the NHS Constitution and the CCG outcome 
indicators for 2013/14 has been below expectations, no areas have been identified within the 
assurance process where the actions implemented by the CCG were deemed to be insufficient or 
where additional support through NHS England was necessary. 

In Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield we have worked with our partners and stakeholders 
to ensure that the health and wellbeing of patients remained a priority and to improve 
performance against national and local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution. 
The following pages set out our figures in more detail. 

Key Missing targets and needs attention 

On or below target 

 

Emergency care services Patients waiting longer than four hours for treatment in our 
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A&E departments 

Number of A&E 
attendances 

Time taken for handovers between ambulance and 
emergency department staff 

Waits in the emergency department after the decision to admit 
a patient 

 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One key target is 
that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment in an emergency 
department. It is disappointing that two of our three main provider organisations – County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust – failed to meet this target, achieving (94.9% and 94.4%) respectively. North Tees and 
Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust successfully achieved the target (96.1%). 

A multiagency urgent care working group is working closely across the health economy to 
address the performance issues in emergency care. We are pleased to include on this group our 
local fire and rescue services as well as police and local authorities. This working group is led by 
our chief clinical officer. 

A range of actions has been implemented by the CCG to improve capacity across the entire 
system, including in primary care, community services and social care, with the investment of 
significant additional resources. This includes a number of schemes that appear to have an 
impact on overall A&E attendances, including the opening of GP practices on weekends and a 
paramedic ring-back scheme that provides access to advice and guidance from clinicians. It is 
expected that these schemes will continue in to 2014/15. 

The emergency care intensive support team, a national team set up to provide support to health 
and social care communities in reviewing their system for urgent and emergency care, also 
visited County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust in December 2013 to review their 
systems and processes and the recommendations from that review will be taken forward with 
the provider in 2014/15. The emergency care intensive support team programme has been 
used successfully in Sunderland where ambulance handover delays have reduced significantly. 

Ambulance handover targets were missed for County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust and City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust, with patient volumes waiting 
longer than 30 minutes for handover of 2,402, and 898 respectively. North Tees and Hartlepool 
NHS Foundation Trust also had a small number of waits longer than 30 minutes. Work to 
improve this area is one of the highest priorities for the CCG and is included in the remit of the 
urgent care working group described above. 

In Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield there was a single occurrence of a wait in A&E from 
decision to admit time to admission of greater than 12 hours. This occurred in February 2014 at 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. The local CCGs are working together 
with the trust on a comprehensive action plan to improve patient experience in their emergency 
departments. 

Ambulance response time Percentage of ambulances getting to patients within eight 
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minutes of the call being received 

 
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75 per cent of red 1&2 calls within eight 
minutes and to respond to 95 per cent of red 1&2 calls within 19 minutes. The North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust provides ambulance services to Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield and overall these targets were achieved across the north-east as a 
whole. 

Historically, the response to red 1&2 calls within eight minutes has fallen below 75% within 
County Durham, and this has continued in 2013/14 across the Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield area with the latest year to date performance being 68%. Performance has been 
impacted by pressures across the whole system and in particular ambulance handover delays 
and A&E diverts between hospital sites. Work continues with both NEAS and our local acute 
providers, in particular County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, to address the 
issues and implement actions to improve performance within the area.  

Avoidable emergency 
admissions 

Reduction in avoidable emergency admissions 

 
For the composite indicator, which considers performance against all of the avoidable 
emergency admission targets, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG is within the 
expected range. 

 Waiting time for cancer treatment 

 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG met the year to date targets for eight out of the 
nine categories of cancer waiting times. This included patients receiving an appointment within 
two weeks of a referral where cancer is suspected. Performance for the 62-day wait for cancer 
treatment is underperforming at 83.8%, which is below the 85% target. Some of the 
performance issues are because there are very low number of patients requiring treatment at 
particular providers, but the CCG is working with those providers to understand how such 
services can be best provided to our residents. Individual service pressures are reviewed with 
each provider as necessary. 

Referral to treatment Patients waiting 52 weeks for treatment 

 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG committed to treat at least 90% of admitted 
patients and 95% of non-admitted patients within 18 weeks. This was achieved. The year to 
date position as at 31 January 2014 is 92% for admitted pathways, 98% for non-admitted 
pathways and 94% for incomplete pathways. For diagnostic tests the latest available 
information shows 0% of patients waiting over six weeks. 

Over the period April–January there were 22 patients waiting over 52 weeks, three of these 
were on incomplete pathways of treatment. Work is continuing with the relevant providers to 
improve this position. 
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Eliminating mixed-sex accommodation 

Under the NHS Constitution, providers of NHS-funded care are expected to eliminate mixed-sex 
accommodation. There have been no instances of mixed-sex accommodation at any of our local 
providers. The CCG checks providers are adhering to the guidelines during regular 
commissioner/provider visits where the providers’ facilities are inspected by CCG staff and lay 
representatives. 

Healthcare acquired 
infections 

Methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) 

Clostridium Difficile (C.Diff) 

 
Patients coming into hospital should expect to be safe from infections. The CCG recognises the 
importance of reducing healthcare associated infections because of the pain and suffering that is 
caused to patients. The CCG has been working hard with the provider organisations to improve 
our performance in this area. Each case is discussed by a multi-agency team and any resulting 
actions are shared with providers to improve care. 

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG had two incidences of MRSA bacteraemia over the 
period April 2012–January 2013. 

The yearly target for incidence of C.Diff is 87; the position as at 31 March 2014 is 73 cases, 
which is under target. Over the past 12 months the monthly target has only been breached in 
one month. 

Patient experience of GP services  
Each year NHS England commissions a national GP patient survey to assess patients’ 
experiences of their local NHS services. The GP patient survey has been designed to give 
patients the opportunity to comment on their experience of their GP practice. The survey asks 
patients about a range of issues related to their local GP surgery and other local NHS services. 
This includes questions about how they rated their experience of GP services, including out of 
hours services, and how confident patients felt in managing their own care.  

In respect of patient experience of GP services, 4,901 local people responded to this survey. 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG scored above the national average for people’s 
overall experience of their GP, with 89% stating that their experience was very good or fairly 
good. 
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The source for the patient’s experience of GP services is the GP patient survey – December 2013 
results www.gp-patient.co.uk/results/latest_weighted/ccg. The survey contains results for 
every CCG in the country and the national results, using aggregated data collected during 
January–March 2013 and July–September 2013 

Out of hours’ experience 
For the out of hours’ experience survey there were 637 respondents. 

 
For out of hours’ experience, 33% patients had a very good experience, which is above the 
national average of 29%. 

The source for the patient’s experience of GP services is the GP patient survey – December 2013 
results www.gp-patient.co.uk/results/latest_weighted/ccg. 

The survey contains results for every CCG in the country and the national results, using 
aggregated data collected during January–March 2013 and July–September 2013. 
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Managing own health 
4,797 people responded to the Managing own health survey. 

 

In terms of the public managing their own health in Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield, we 
are comparable to the national average, with only very slight differences. 

The source for the patient’s experience of GP services is the GP patient survey – December 2013 
results www.gp-patient.co.uk/results/latest_weighted/ccg. 

The survey contains results for every CCG in the country and the national results, using 
aggregated data collected during January–March 2013 and July–September 2013. 

Safeguarding 
In line with the NHS England safeguarding assurance framework (2013), the CCG has received 
significant assurance in relation to its safeguarding activities through a recent audit that has 
taken place. It demonstrated and gave assurance that we have the appropriate expertise across 
both adults and children safeguarding areas to enable the CCG to fulfil its safeguarding 
responsibilities. North Durham CCG acts as the host CCG for the safeguarding team, however the 
executive lead for safeguarding in Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield is the director of 
nursing who takes has active role in the respective safeguarding children and adult arenas. The 
executive lead also acts as the safeguarding lead on the governing body.  

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information 
We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the 
setting of charges for information. 

Principles of remedy 
In all aspects of our activity, the CCG has adhered to the revised ‘principles of remedy’ published 
by the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman in May 2010. Incident and risk 
procedures ensured that any serious incidents were reported, and lessons learned and applied. 
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Employee consultation 
The CCG works with all employees to ensure all are aware of the current CCG vision, priorities 
and performance. This is supported via regular team meetings, staff supervision meetings, and 
publication of key documents and information on a highly visible wall on the main thoroughfare 
within the CCG’s main site. 

In respect of formal consultation exercises, the CCG has undertaken a consultation to review the 
management structure and meeting structure. These structures were developed many months 
before CCGs knew what duties they had to perform and how they would perform them. 

It was therefore almost inevitable that both the meetings and the management structure would 
have to alter once the CCG became a statutory body and took on the full range of responsibilities 
set out in the Health and Social Care Act and NHS Constitution.  

Between October and December 2013 an organisational review was undertaken, this review 
was driven by the need to meet nationally agreed management cost efficiency savings, whilst 
ensuring the CCG is resilient, fit for purpose, and provides value for money. During the review 
feedback was sought from a wide range of stakeholders, including staff, member practices, local 
authority and NECS.  

The feedback from the organisational review has been fed into discussions within the CCG 
executive committee. It was determined that in order to provide more consistent, streamlined 
services with reduced waste across the Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield areas, revised 
structures and new governance arrangements and new ways of working were needed.  

Our new organisational staff and governance structure delivered to timescales and went live on 
1 April 2014 with full support from our governing body and member practices. Staff and 
stakeholders will be further consulted to ensure the review has had the desired impact. 

Disabled employees 
We ensure that our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability. We have also 
earned the two tick ‘positive about disabled people’ symbol awarded by Jobcentre Plus which 
demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff. 
Further details are available within the equality report section within this annual report. 

Information governance and security 
Information governance ensures necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use of, patient and 
personal information. Further information on information governance arrangements within the 
CCG can be found within the annual governance statement.  

There were no serious untoward incidents relating to information governance breaches 
involving the CCG over the period. 

Emergency preparedness 
We certify that the CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully compliant with the 
NHS England emergency preparedness framework 2013. The CCG will regularly review and 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2013/14 

22 

make improvements to its business continuity plan and will develop a programme for regularly 
testing the plan, the results of which will be reported to the governing body. 

Sustainability and the environment  
Our sustainable development strategy sets out our commitment to work in ways that maximise 
the health, social and economic benefits our activities bring to the community while minimising 
our impact on the environment. 

Sustainable development requires Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG to be mindful of 
the need to safeguard the future in all of our choices, decisions, and actions. Wherever possible 
the CCG and individuals take the opportunity to contribute positively to the local economy and 
community, reduce waste and utilities consumption, and minimise any negative impact on the 
environment both now and for future generations. 

Working in a sustainable way has meant rethinking a lot of what we do. It affects not only the 
major strategic decisions we take but also how we go about our daily business. 

Getting these decisions right will not only help us save money, eliminate unnecessary waste in 
the system and reduce our carbon footprint; it demonstrates to partners and the public that the 
CCG is dedicated to enhancing individuals’ wellbeing through our work as commissioners of 
high quality health services, but also by enhancing the wellbeing of the local and global 
community through taking seriously our corporate responsibilities.  

Travel 
The CCG encourages sustainable travel wherever possible. We also promote care closer to 
home, telehealth and home working opportunities. 

Energy use 
The CCG monitors its energy usage and uses renewable resources where feasible including solar 
panel energy at our main site, Sedgefield Community Hospital. 

Waste 
We work hard to minimise the creation of waste. The CCG has a robust approach to recycling. 
Paper, cardboard, glass, metal, ink cartridges, batteries, waste electrical goods and confidential 
waste are all recycled. 

Workforce development 
All of our staff are encouraged to work sustainably, we promote environmental awareness, 
encourage low carbon travel and facilitate flexible working where possible. 
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Equality report 
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the 
public sector equality duties. We have demonstrated our commitment to taking equality and 
human rights into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, 
employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our 
work. 

The equality delivery system (EDS) 
The EDS is an NHS tool that enables organisations to analyse their equality performance with 
the assistance of local stakeholders, to prepare equality objectives and to embed equality into 
mainstream commissioning activities in order to raise equality in service commissioning and 
performance for the community, patients, carers and staff. 

We adopted the EDS framework. We have been using the tool to support the mainstreaming of 
equalities into all our core business functions and also used it as an opportunity to raise 
equality awareness in service commissioning and performance for the community, patients, 
carers and staff. 

We have developed and published our equality objectives for 2013/14 and approved plans 
detailing the actions we will take to ensure that individuals, communities and staff are treated 
equitably. Progress against these actions is regularly reported to and monitored by the 
executive and governing body  

The CCG uses the following tools to enable us to adhere to and measure our equality and 
diversity objectives: 

Staff training 
Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff and governing body and 
the training covers a range of equality related areas. In addition staff that may be involved in 
recruitment and selection are also required to undertake recruitment and selection training 
that includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it relates to the recruitment 
process. 

Diversity matters newsletter  
NECS our commissioning support unit produces a quarterly newsletter, which is circulated to all 
staff and practices. The newsletter contains up-to-date information on relevant equality 
diversity and human rights legislation and developments. 

Equality analysis 
We refreshed our equality analysis toolkit in 2013 and this ensures that we can identify the 
impact or effect, either positive or negative, of our policies, procedures and functions on various 
sections of the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take immediate 
steps to deal with such issues and make sure equity of service delivery is available for all. The 
equality analysis toolkit and guidance process covers all equality groups offered protection 
under the Equality Act 2010 (race, disability, gender, age, sexual orientation, religion/belief, 
marriage and civil partnership and gender re-assignment) in addition to human rights and 
carers. 
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Governance and leadership 
Equality and diversity is a core responsibility of the CCG executive. It is the Executive that 
ensures the CCG is compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements 
regarding equality and diversity and ensures the CCG develops and delivers national and 
regional diversity-related initiatives. . The Executive monitors progress against the equality 
strategy and supports the CCG through the governing body in the achievement of key equality 
and diversity objectives. 

The CCG has allocated lead roles within the executive and governing body to ensure equality 
and diversity has the highest possible profile. Our lead for equality and diversity is the director 
of primary care development and engagement. 

Engagement and partnership working 
We work in partnership with local NHS trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations 
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to 
improve health and healthcare across Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield. 

We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 

Accessibility and communications 
We ensure that our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability.  
We use ‘Everyday Language Solutions’ when an interpreter is required by telephone and when 
face-to-face interpreting may be needed. Information for patients and the general public is 
available in other languages or formats such as large print or Braille and audio, upon request.  

We have also earned the two tick ‘positive about disabled people’ symbol awarded by Jobcentre 
Plus which demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of 
disabled staff. 

Equal opportunities for staff 
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and employment 
terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions are fairly 
determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal value, being 
entitled to equal pay. 

 Male Female 

Governing body members 13 12 

Very senior managers All included in governing body All included in governing body 

CCG employees 15 22 
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Financial review  

Overview 
During this first year of operation, NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG has 
worked hard to secure high quality services, making every effort to ensure we have used 
resources economically and with effectiveness and efficiency. The annual accounts demonstrate 
that the CCG has been successful in achieving the key statutory and administrative financial 
duties during the financial year ended 31 March 2014. This reflects a strong financial grip and 
effective financial management within the organisation. 

Objectives and performance for the year 
Control totals for the year were agreed with NHS England Durham, Darlington and Tees area 
team. The CCG’s successful management of financial risks and robust financial management has 
ensured that there has been no deviation during the year in respect of year end forecasts. 

The CCG’s successful results in 2013/14 are set out in the table below with further detail 
included within the full annual accounts attached to this annual report. 

Target Achievement Target met? 

To deliver a minimum 1% surplus 
against the revenue allocation. 

Revenue surplus of £5,489,000 against 
a revenue resource limit of 
£418,210,000 (1.3%). 

Yes 

To maintain capital spending with the 
overall capital resource limit. 

The CCG has not been allocated a 
capital resource limit in 2013/14, so 
this target is not applicable for the 
2013/14 financial year. 

N/A 

To maintain running costs within the 
running cost allowance set by NHS 
England. 

Running costs have been contained 
within the running cost allowance of 
£7,070,000. 

Yes 

Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 
Unlike commercial companies that make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource limits within 
which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are separate resource limits for 
revenue and capital expenditure. Revenue expenditure is further broken down into programme 
(healthcare) expenditure, and running costs expenditure. 

Operational financial balance 
The CCG’s revenue resource limit (RRL) for the year was £418,210,000. The value of the RRL is 
calculated by NHS England and is based upon the weighted capitation formula. This formula is 
based on the population served by the CCG amended for factors including age, need and market 
forces. This was the first RRL for the CCG in its first year of operation. 
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This funding is used to pay for hospital services, community services, mental health services, 
prescribing costs for drugs and appliances, and CCG running costs.  

Relevant costs amounted to £412,721,000 and resulted in an under-spend or surplus delivery of 
£5,489,000 or 1.3%. This is consistent with requirements to deliver a minimum surplus of at 
least 1% of the RRL. 

Capital resource limit 
In our first year of operation, the CCG has not been allocated a capital resource limit, and the 
CCG has not incurred any capital expenditure in-year. 

Other financial targets and disclosures 
In addition to the above statutory duties CCGs have similar responsibilities to other NHS 
organisations to record performance against the Department of Health’s better payment 
practice code. 

Compliance with better payment practice code 
The CCG is an approved signatory to the prompt payments code. All NHS organisations are 
required to make payments to their creditors within their contract terms or within 30 days 
where no terms have been agreed. The target is to pay all valid invoices within this timescale, 
and performance is monitored during the year.  

Performance against this code has been very high, with the CCG achieving close to 100% of 
invoices paid. This is particularly impressive given the changes from local to national financial 
systems implemented for 2013/14 financial year. Details of the performance against the code 
can be found in note 6.1 of the accompanying annual accounts.  

Running costs 
Running costs for 2013/14 amount to £6,186,000 or £21.48 per head of weighted population 
for commissioning services. 

This running cost is within the running cost allowance set out by NHS England, which amounted 
to £7,070,000. 

Disclosure: legacy balance transfers 
In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, strategic health authorities and 
primary care trusts were dissolved on 1 April 2013 and their assets and liabilities transferred to 
successor bodies in the NHS or to other entities. Under the terms of the property transfer 
scheme and its supporting schedules, a number of assets were transferred from County Durham 
PCT and Darlington PCT to the CCG on that date. In the main these assets were small value 
community equipment assets to a value of £228,000. These assets were associated with the 
business transfer agreement for community services. They were reviewed during the course of 
2013/14 and written off in accordance with our accounting policies. 

The accounting arrangements in respect of these transfers and write-offs are outlined in note 13 
to the annual accounts. 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2013/14 

27 

Key financial investments 
Financial pressures arise each year, and the CCG has been able to manage these by prudent 
financial planning and careful financial management.  

The CCG’s main aim was to maintain financial stability and probity while ensuring that 
resources were used as efficiently and effectively as possible in meeting the objectives set out in 
the CCG’s plan for 2013/14. The expenditure profile for the CCG is shown in the chart below, 
demonstrating the significant elements of expenditure. 

 

The CCG has continued to provide support to its main providers of secondary care services to 
maintain a balanced local health economy and assist delivery of key targets. In overall terms the 
majority of funding continues to be spent on acute hospital services. Significant additional 
investment has also been provided for a range of new and additional services including 
investment in local partnerships and to support key strategic objectives. 

The CCG has also successfully worked with providers to deliver planned efficiencies under the 
quality, innovation, productivity and prevention programme. In 2013/14 quality, innovation, 
productivity and prevention activities amounting to £18.6 million has been identified, through 
transformation work and release of efficiencies via contracts, enabling subsequent re-
investment into priority areas.  

Pensions 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the employee benefits notes in 
the full set of the CCG accounts (note 4.5). Further details of directors’ pension benefits can be 
found in the remuneration report section of this document. 

Audit and assurance committee  
The CCG operates an audit and assurance committee which has been in place throughout 
2013/14. This committee reports to the governing body. The role of chair of the audit and 

Acute healthcare

Mental health and learning
disability

Community services

Continuing healthcare

Prescribing/primary care

Ambulance services

Running costs



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2013/14 

28 

assurance committee was undertaken by the lay member on the governing body with 
responsibility for governance and audit, Keith Tallintire, with the deputy chair role undertaken 
by David Taylor-Gooby. Details of the membership and attendance at audit and assurance 
committee are shown in the members report section within this annual report. 

Directors’ disclosure of information to auditors 
The statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the accounts can be found in the 
remuneration report. 

Summary 
The CCG has focused upon the challenging delivery agenda in 2013/14 and delivery of value for 
money whilst improving the health of its population within available resources. The CCG has 
built upon the robust legacy from the former County Durham PCT, whilst adopting, reviewing 
and enhancing existing policies and procedures to ensure best fit with CCG requirements.  

A copy of the full set of the CCG’s annual accounts for 2013/2014 is published alongside this 
annual report. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2013/14 
Financial reporting manual issued by HM Treasury, and Annual accounts guidance 2013/14 
published by NHS England. 

External auditors 
Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the Audit Commission, Deloitte 
LLP was appointed auditors to the CCG for 2013/14. 

The cost of audit services can be found in note 5 of the CCG’s financial statements. 
The auditors bring an annual work plan to the audit and assurance committee for approval. This 
states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would include any details of non-
audit work if applicable. When considering whether the level of any non-audit work is 
appropriate the CCG would consider the composition of the team (and whether any audit team 
members are involved) and the level of fees. 

Annual accounts 
The accounts of the CCG are attached to this annual report and have been prepared under a 
direction issued by the NHS commissioning board under the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended). 

The next twelve months 
The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well documented, with the impact of 
an aging and growing population leading to significantly increased costs against a backdrop of 
limited financial resources. 

These pressures are set out in NHS England’s A call to action report published in July 2013 
which estimates that if current models of care continue, the NHS will face a funding gap of 
around £30 billion between 2013/14 and 2020/21 (approximately 22% of projected costs in 
2020/21). 
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The CCG has produced a two-year operational plan and refreshed its five-year strategic plan as 
part of the County Durham unit of planning. This plan identifies how we will address the 
pressures over the next five years. The plan has a specific focus on: 

• meeting the healthcare challenges of the increasing numbers of the frail and elderly in our 
population 

• transforming the delivery of urgent care services and ensuring as many people as possible 
see their GP appropriately 

• implementation and delivery of seven-day services across the NHS and social care 
• delivery of cohesive short-term intervention services which prevent acute admissions 
• the delivery of primary care and community care services at scale to ensure sustainability 

and innovation across clusters of practices through the development of federations as a key 
delivery route 

A key element of the CCG’s plan is the better care fund. This is a single pooled budget across the 
two County Durham CCGs and County Durham Council. The better care fund is designed to 
enable service transformation through the development of integrated health and social care. 
Nationally the better care fund amounts to £3.8 billion, with the total value of the fund (between 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG) across County Durham 
amounting to £43.7 million. The better care fund is designed to deliver significant shifts in 
activity from secondary care and acute services to primary and community settings, enabling 
care to be provided closer to home and thereby supporting the integration of health and social 
care. 

The creation of the better care fund is a significant challenge for the CCG as is delivering the 
level of activity reductions required in acute care to release the funding required to support 
investment in more appropriate community-based health and social care services. 

The CCG’s strategic plan is supported by a robust and realistic five-year financial plan which 
incorporates the expected impact of the better care fund and other strategic objectives, and 
provides a stable financial foundation upon which to deliver the transformational change 
required to shift activity, and related costs out of hospital care. 

The 2014/15 budget was approved by the CCG’s governing body in March 2014, this budget 
invests in the priority areas as set out in the CCG’s two-year operational plan and reflects the 
direction of travel required to achieve the objectives set out in the 5 year strategic plan  

Compliance with duties 
We certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid down in the NHS Act 2006 
(as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012). 
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Dr Stewart Findlay 
Accountable Officer 
6 June 2014 

Members’ report 

The council of member practices  
The CCG is a membership organisation made up of 40 GP practices. Each practice has an 
identified commissioning lead that together makes up the council of member practices. The 
commissioning lead identified represents the practice at the council of member practice 
meetings and has the authority to represent the practice’s views and to act on its behalf in its 
dealings between the practice and the CCG. As already mentioned the CCG covers a large and 
diverse geography and it therefore makes good sense for practices to work in locality groups 
where this improves clinical care and patient experience. 

The council of members role is to: 

• provide strategic oversight and direction to the organisation as a whole 
• contribute to, change and approve the CCG’s constitution 
• ensure an effective governing body is in place and review their performance annually 
• review and agree the CCG annual delivery plan 
• contribute to and agree the commissioning intentions 
• hold an annual general meeting that is open to the public at which the annual report and 

accounts are presented 

The three localities have identified lead roles and these representatives sit on the governing 
body, representing the views of member practices in each of the three localities. 

The member practices that make up the CCG are as follows:  

Durham Dales (12) 
• Woodview Medical Practice (Cockfield Surgery) 
• Willington Medical Group 
• Station View Medical Centre 
• North House Surgery 
• Auckland Medical Group  
• Bishopgate Medical Centre 
• The Weardale Practice 
• Old Forge Surgery  
• Barnard Castle Surgery 
• Pinfold Medical Practice 
• Gainford Surgery 
• Evenwood Surgery 

Sedgefield (11) 
• Hallgarth Surgery 
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• Bewick Crescent Surgery 
• Ferryhill and Chilton Medical Practice 
• Spennymoor Health Centre 
• Dr Jones & Partners 
• Jubilee Medical Group  
• Peaseway Medical Centre 
• Oxford Road Surgery (Dr D Roy) 
• West Cornforth Surgery 
• Dr K S Baliga Shildon Health Clinic 
• St Andrew's Medical Practice  

Easington (17) 
• Blackhall & Peterlee Practice 
• Dr Mahto & Partners (The Surgery) 
• Drs Abbott & Patel 
• Murton Practice 
• Dr Fairlamb & Partners (The Carodoc Surgery) 
• Horden Group Practice 
• Marlborough Practice 
• Shinwell Medical Group 
• Jupiter House Surgery  
• Deneside Medical Centre (Dr Kapoor) 
• New Seaham Medical Centre 
• William Brown Centre Peterlee 
• Dr Ramakrishna Gupta (Shotton Medical Practice) 
• Southdene Medical Centre 
• Silverdale Family Practice  
• Wingate Medical Centre  
• Dr Reddy (Deneside Medical Centre) 
• Murton Practice  

Governing body 
The governing body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with 
the principles of good governance. The governing body is responsible for the CCG’s £418million 
budget, and that it is spent as efficiently as possible to provide high quality healthcare for the 
local population. 

Further details of the governance framework and organisational structure operating within the 
CCG, including the role of the governing body and related committees can be found in the 
governance statement.  

The membership and attendance of the governing body is outlined in the table below. The 
membership has changed since the CCGs formation on the 1 April 2013 and this is also 
highlighted in the table. Details of the membership and attendance of all other committees held 
throughout the throughout the year are included: 
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Governing body and committee members 2013/14 

Name Title Go
ve

rn
in

g 
bo

dy
 

13
 m

ee
tin

gs
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 
32

 m
ee

tin
gs

 

Au
di

t a
nd

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 

5 
m

ee
tin

gs
 

Co
m

m
is

si
on

in
g,

 q
ua

lit
y,

 fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
11

 m
ee

tin
gs

 

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

  
9 

m
ee

tin
gs

 

Dr Stewart Findlay Chief Clinical Officer M 
(10) 

C 
(25) 

 C 
(8) 

IA 

Joseph Chandy Director of Primary 
Care and 
Engagement 

M 
(11) 

M 
(25) 

 M 
(8) 

 

Gillian Findley Director of 
Nursing/Nurse 
Advisor 

M 
(12) 

M 
(26) 

IA M 
(8) 

 

Mike Taylor Chief Finance and 
Operating Officer 
(on secondment to 
NHS England from 1 
March 2014) 

M 
(10) 

M 
(24) 

IA M 
(7) 

IA 

Nicola Bailey Chief Operating 
Officer, North 
Durham CCG 
Chief Operating 
Officer, DDES CCG 
(interim from 1 
March 2014) 

M M 
(2) 

IA M IA 

Annie Dolphin Lay Member Chair  C 
(13) 

   C 
(3) 

Keith Tallintire Lay Member  M 
(13) 

 C 
(5) 

 M 
(3) 

David Taylor-Gooby Lay Member M 
(11) 

 M 
(5) 

 M 
(3) 
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Dr Ian Spencer Secondary Care 
Clinician (with 
effect from 1 March 
2014) 

M 
(2) 

    

Dr Helen Moore Clinical Locality 
Lead, Sedgefield 
(with effect from 1 
July 2013) 

M 
(7) 

M 
(2) 

 M 
(5) 

 

Dr Winny Jose Clinical Locality 
Lead, Sedgefield  

M M 
(7) 

 M  

Dr Jonathan Smith Clinical Locality 
Lead, Easington 
(with effect from 1 
July 2013) 

M M 
(1) 

 M 
(7) 

 

Dr Stephen Muscat Clinical Locality 
Lead, Easington 
(until 31 January 
2014) 

M 
(7) 

  M 
(3) 

 

Vicky Watson Locality Lead, 
Durham Dales (with 
effect from 1 
November 2014) 

M 
(4) 

M 
(1) 

M 
(1) 

M 
(5) 

 

Mark Pickering Head of Finance and 
Performance; and 
Chief Finance 
Officer (interim) 
(with effect from 1 

March 2014) 

IA IA 
(25) 

 

IA IA 
(8) 
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Sarah Burns Head of Planning 
and Contracting  

IA IA 
(17) 

 IA 
(5) 

 

Dr John McGuire Sessional GP M 
(8) 

    

Anna Lynch Director for Public 
Health, Durham 
County Council  

M 
(6) 

(non-
voting) 

    

Lesley Jeavons Durham County 
Council  

M 
(5) 

(non-
voting) 

    

Dr Dinah Roy Director of Clinical 
Quality and 
Performance 
(leaver 23 January 
2014)  

M 
(7) 

M 
(22) 

 

 M 
(6) 

 

Dr Satinder 
Sanghera  

Clinical Locality 
Lead, Durham Dales 
Locality 
(leaver – 31 October 
2013)  

M 
(6) 

 

  M 
(4) 

 

 

Peter Carr  Secondary Care 
Clinician (leaver 28 
February 2014) 

M 
(10) 

    

Member (M)  
Chair (C) 
In attendance (IA)  
Number of meetings attended shown in brackets  
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CCG governing body members 2013/14 declarations of interests 

Name and position Go
ve

rn
in

g 
bo

dy
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
 

Au
di

t a
nd

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 

Re
m

un
er

at
io

n 

Declaration 

Annie Dolphin 
Lay chair 

    Panel member – County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Health Improvement Revenue Fund administered by 
County Durham Community Foundation.  

Performers list decision panel chair NHS England DDT 
Area Team  

Teesdale AAP forum member 

NHS partner Board Member – Teesdale AAP 

Keith Tallintire 
Lay member, 
governance 

    Derwentside Homes Ltd, Prince Bishops Homes Ltd, 
Prince Bishops Community Bank,  

Mid Durham Area Action Partnership, Derwentside 
Enterprise Agency Ltd, North Durham Engineering 
Forum, 

KT Financial Services Ltd,  

Social Housing Enterprise Durham Ltd. 

NHS partner Board Member  

East Durham (Easington) AAP 

David Taylor-
Gooby 
Lay member patient 
and public 
engagement 

    Freelance writer, sometimes write on NHS matters 

NHS partner Board Member 4 Together (Ferryhill)  

Forum Member of AAP – Easington 
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Declaration 

Dr Stewart Findlay 
Chief clinical officer 

    GP Partner at Bishopgate Medical Centre 

NHS Alliance lead for CVD 

NHS Clinical Commissioners lead for the NE 

Bishopgate Medical Centre provide occupational 
health services for Cummins (Serco), Health Sure 
(Serco), Health Management, Norwich Union, Sunlight 
Services, Healthcare Connexions, OCCHEA, Connought 
Compliances, Nexus, TMD Friction 

Bishopgate provide services to Dr Bowron in his role 
as Medical Referee at the Wear Valley Crematorium at 
Coundon, Bishop Auckland. 

Bishopgate provides a GP Clinical Tutor and Appraisal 
lead within the Durham Dales area (Dr Bowron). 

Joseph Chandy 
Director of primary 
care development 
and engagement 

    Partner - Dr Mahto and Partners (Thornley, Wheatley 
Hill and Kelloe surgeries) 

Partner - Shinwell Medical Group Partner - Peterlee 
Health Centre 

Partner – Caradoc Practice, Wingate 

Senior partner at Shinwell Medical Group is a 
provider of specialist care at Barchester Hawthorns 
until 31 March 2014 under a CCG contract. 

Related to the senior partner, Shinwell Medical Group, 
the senior partner Trustee Dr Joseph Chandy 
Charitable Trust 
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Declaration 

Dr Helen Moore  
Locality lead 
Sedgefield 

    Vice Chair Sedgefield Locality Commissioning Group & 
GP Ferryhill 

GP with a Special Interest in Vasectomy and 
Dermatology 

GP with a special interest in skin surgery and 
teledermatology  

GP at Ferryhill Practice with interest in all Primary 
Care 

Dr John McGuire 
Sessional GP 

    Clinical lead for urgent care clinical governance and 
NHS 111 employee of NHSCDD  

Salaried GP in Bishop Auckland urgent care as an 
employee of CDDFT 

Mike Taylor 
Chief finance and 
operating officer 
(currently seconded 
to NHS England) 

    Sister in law employed at CDDFT as matron/clinical 
service manager for unscheduled care 

NHS Partner Board Member for GAMP AAP 

Gill Findley 
Director of 
nursing/nurse 
advisor 

    School Governor for South Stanley Junior School  

Company Secretary for Magnitas Ltd. Owned and run 
by Mr I. Findley 

Related through marriage to the McCardle Family 
from McCardle Care Homes  

Has a shared role as Director of Nursing with 
Darlington CCG for a period of 6 months, whilst 
remaining as Director of Nursing for DDES CCG  

NHS Partner Board Member for Bishop Auckland and 
Shildon AAP 
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Declaration 

Mark Pickering 
Chief finance officer 
– interim (from 1 
March 2014)  

    Wife employed as a director of Tees Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust who are both an 
existing and potential future provider to the CCG  

Foundation Trust Member for CDDFT NHS FT 

NHS Partner Board Member of Weardale AAP and 
GAMP AAP 

Anna Lynch  
Director of public 
health, County 
Durham, Durham 
County Council 

    Trustee of East Durham Trust  

Chair of East Durham Domestic Violence Forum  

DCC - Statutory chief Officer with delegated duties in 
constitution 

Non-voting member of North Durham CCG Governing 
Body 

Lesley Jeavons 
Durham County 
Council 

    Durham County Council Rep. 

Chair of Safeguarding Adults Board 

TEWV Council of Governors  

Member Teesdale AAP Forum 

Dr Winny Jose 
Locality lead 
Sedgefield 

    GP at Jubilee Medical Practice with interest in all 
Primary Care 

Vicky Watson  
Locality lead 
Durham Dales 

    Practice Manager at Weardale Practice Currently the 
Champion Practice for ANP service 

Dr Ian Spencer 
Secondary care 
clinician 

    Volunteer with Newcastle Citizens Advice Bureau 
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Declaration 

Nicola Bailey 
Chief operating 
officer – interim 
(from March 2014) 

    Has a shared role of acting Chief Operating Officer for 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield for a period 
of six months, whilst remaining as Chief Operating 
Officer in North Durham CCG.  

Trustee on national charity In Control 

Sarah Burns 
Head of planning and 
contracting 

    Husband works for Gentoo, DDES supporting non-
recurrent bid (pending decision) 

Jonathan Smith 
Locality lead 
Easington 

    GP at Silverdale Family Practice with an interest in all 
Primary Care  

Dr Dinah Roy 
Director of clinical 
quality and 
performance (leaver 
23 January 2014) 

    Director, Gatehouse (Health) Ltd,) GP Appraiser, 
Member RCGP, Member BMA. GP Principal at Oxford 
Road Medical Centre, Spennymoor with an interest in 
all Primary care 

Dr Peter Carr 
Secondary care 
clinician (leaver 28 
February 2014) 

    Nothing to declare. 

Dr Satinder 
Sanghera 
Clinical locality lead 
Durham Dales 
(leaver 31 October 
2013) 

    Clinical and Quality Lead for Durham Dales. GP 
Partner Weardale Practice with an interest in all 
Primary Care 
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Membership and governing body profiles 

Annie Dolphin 

Chair for the governing body 
Annie retired from HM Revenue & Customs (formerly Inland Revenue) 
in 2006 after 32 years. Originally trained as a tax inspector, she 
developed extensive experience in budget, governance, HR, planning 
accountability. Annie was awarded the OBE in 2002 for her work with 
the Inland Revenue. 

As well as her role with the CCG, Annie chairs the professional performer 
panels for general and dental practitioners. Her key challenge is to 
ensure that the CCG engages with the public, patients and partners and 
takes their views and experiences into account. 

Dr Stewart Findlay 

Chief clinical officer  
Stewart has been a GP Partner at Bishopgate Medical Centre in Bishop 
Auckland since 1983. He has been involved in commissioning health care 
services for the local population for over 20 years. In addition to his 
current role as Chief Clinical Officer, he is on the leadership group of NHS 
Clinical Commissioners.  

Stewart continues to work one day a week as a GP partner in his 
practice. 

 

Joseph Chandy MBA MInstLM 

Director of primary care development and engagement  
Joseph joined the NHS in 1996 as a GP practice manager in Easington. He 
is an executive partner in three GP practices where his role is to provide 
the clinical partners with strategic and organisational support.  

Joseph has a Master’s in Business Administration (MBA) and is Member 
of the Institute of Leaders and Managers. 

 

 



NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2013/14 

41 

 

Dr John McGuire 

Sessional GP representative 
John has been a doctor for 25 years working in a wide range of settings 
including secondary and primary care. He is currently a GP in urgent 
care.  

John graduated from Glasgow University Medical School in 1988 and has 
worked in a number of cities throughout England, settling happily in 
County Durham 10 years ago. He has two teenage children, a toddler and 
a baby and when he finds the time enjoys running, reading and movies. 

 

 

Keith Tallintire 

Lay member (responsible for governance and audit)  
 

Keith is the director of resources for Derwentside Homes and chief 
executive of its commercial arm, Prince Bishops Homes, which he 
established in 2009.  

Keith qualified as an accountant in 1983 and held a number of senior 
managerial and board positions in the manufacturing sector before 
taking up his current post. Originally from the North East, he lives in East 
Durham. 

Keith is an associate member of the Chartered Institute of Management 
Accountants, Chartered Institute of Housing and Chartered Institute of 

Purchasing and Supply. He is a board member of Prince Bishops Community Bank and North 
Durham Engineering Forum. 

David Taylor-Gooby 

Lay member (responsible for patient and public engagement) 
Originally a senior lecturer at East Durham College David has also 
worked in public involvement in the health sector and served as 
councillor in Easington. He has published a book about the future of the 
NHS and also writes columns for local newspapers. 
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David was born in Watford, Hertfordshire, but moved to the North East in 1969. He lives in 
Peterlee with his wife Maureen. 

David was previously a member of the Durham County Council Health Scrutiny Committee. He 
also chairs the Apollo Pavilion Community Association. 

He feels the NHS faces considerable challenges in the future, and patient and public engagement 
is crucial if it is to successfully meet them. 

Gill Findley 

Director of nursing/nurse advisor 
Gill has held various nursing posts in the community, secondary and 
tertiary care settings. Recent posts have included Associate Director of 
Nursing at County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
covering safeguarding, risk and clinical governance and a spell at the 
North East Leadership Academy. Most recently she has been working in 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust as A&E business 
manager. 

Gill trained as a registered general nurse and registered sick children’s 
nurse at Great Ormond Street hospital in London. Following a period of 
time as a research nurse at St. James’s hospital in Leeds, she moved to 

the North East and has lived here for 20 years. Gill lives with her husband in Chester le Street 
and has two daughters who are currently studying classics and medicine at Universities in 
London and Leeds. 

What are the key challenges you face in your role? 

To ensure that people of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield have a real voice in developing 
the services that they want and need. 

Ian Spencer 

Lay member 
Ian Spencer was a consultant anaesthetist for almost 30 years before retiring in 2011. Initially 
his medical career was in the Royal Air Force where he became a Group Captain and was made 
the Consultant Adviser for his specialty. Following the closure of military hospitals, he became a 
NHS Consultant in 1995 and worked thereafter at CDDFT (formerly Dryburn Hospital) in 
Durham. Additionally, he was an Examiner for the Royal College of Anaesthetists for 13 years, 
Chairman of his hospital's Medical Advisory Committee and also its BMA Representative.  

Since retiring he has worked as a Volunteer for the CAB, dealing with clients who wish to claim 
medically-related benefits, and enjoys walking and his new pastimes of bowls and ukulele.  

In his new role in the CCG he hopes his wide experience in secondary care will benefit the Board 
and that he can also maintain and develop his longstanding interest in risk management, quality 
and audit. 
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Mark Pickering ACMA CGMA MA 

Chief finance officer (interim) 
Mark is a qualified accountant, and an associate member of the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has worked in 
finance and performance for a variety of NHS and local government 
organisations over a 24 year career, covering various sectors including 
healthcare commissioning, acute secondary care, mental health services 
and community care.  

He has a master’s degree in applied financial management and lives in 
Washington with his wife and son. 

 

Nicola Bailey 

Chief operating officer  
Nicola was the acting chief executive for Hartlepool Borough Council and 
has previously held posts such as director of child and adult services. 
With over 20 years managerial and leadership experience in the public 
sector she has extensive experience in managing and leading 
organisations through change, developing integrated services and 
solutions and working at a senior board level. 

 

 

 

Dr Jonathan Smith 

Locality clinical lead, Easington  
Living in the North East all of his life and originally from Stockton-on-
Tees, Jonathan went to medical school in Newcastle, and qualified in 
2003. During his work as a hospital doctor and GP trainee he has spent 
time in most of the hospitals in our region. As a GP trainee Jonathan 
worked in practices in Gateshead, Derwentside, Sunderland and Durham 
Dales. He has been a full time GP partner in South Hetton since 2008, and 
has been involved in medical student teaching and research as well as 
clinical work during this time. Within the CCG he is currently the interim 
locality lead for Easington. Recently Jonathan was also appointed to the 

newly formed NHS England senate council. Outside of work he enjoys spending time with his 
young family, and tries to keep fit running and rowing. 
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Dr Helen Moore 
 

Sedgefield locality clinical lead 
Helen has been a partner at Ferryhill and Chilton Medical Practice since 
1996. She also works as a GP specialist in dermatology and skin surgery, 
vasectomy and endoscopy, and is a fellow of the Royal College of 
Surgeons Glasgow. She did her initial medical training in Newcastle, after 
growing up in London, and after a short spell in Wales, gravitated back 
to the North East. She has been actively involved in the PCG and then 
PCT for 18 years as a clinical lead for dermatology and endoscopy, 
advising on pathway development and other clinical issues. When the 
PCT became the CCG, Helen was voted deputy clinical lead for the 

locality, and subsequently clinical lead. She lives with her husband in Darlington and has two 
children at university. 

Dr Winny Jose MRCGP 
 

Deputy clinical lead, Sedgefield locality 
I am a full time GP partner at Jubilee Medical Group, Newton Aycliffe 
since 2008. I have been involved in commissioning for the last six years. 
I am passionate about diabetes, care closure to home and community 
services. I am committed to working together for a better future. 

I live in Tudhoe Village, married and have two young girls. I love 
outdoors, walking and free climbing mountains. 

 

Anna Lynch  
 

Director of public health, County Durham 
Anna has been the director of public health for County Durham since 
2006. From April 2013 the role and related statutory functions 
transferred to Durham County Council under the Health & Social Care 
Act 2012 legislation.  

Anna has worked in County Durham since 1993 firstly as head of health 
promotion and then director of public health for Easington from 2002 to 
2006. Prior to this she worked in the NHS in Teesside and Trafford, 
Greater Manchester and also in local authority in the North West.  

Anna is a trustee for a local charity and represents colleague directors of 
public health as a north east member of the Association of Directors of 

Public Health.  
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Anna is committed to ensuring that the health inequalities agenda remains a focus in the 
commissioning of health care services across County Durham and leading the transformation of 
public health across the range of services provided by Durham County Council.  

Lesley Jeavons 

Local authority representative 
A nurse by profession Lesley left the NHS and moved to Local 
Government in 1994. She has worked in a variety of roles including 
frontline services, staff development and project management. She took 
up her current role which includes responsibility for care management, 
safeguarding and in-house provision in 2007. She has significant 
experience of managing large budgets and multi-agency partnerships 
and has a keen interest in leading change and service development. 

Lesley lives in Durham City with her husband. She has a son who lives in 
Shanghai and a daughter who is studying at Manchester University. 

 

Remuneration report 

The remuneration committee 
The committee was established to advise the governing body in relation to the pay, other 
benefits and terms of employment for the chief clinical officer and other senior staff employed 
within the CCG. The committee is made up of the following voting members: 
• Annie Dolphin – chair and lay chair for the CCG 
• Keith Tallintire – vice chair and lay member for governance and audit  
• David Taylor-Gooby – lay member for patient and public involvement  
• other lay members as required 

Policy on remuneration of senior managers 
The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the governing body to make 
recommendations on the determination of pay and remuneration for senior employees of the 
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG.  

The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined in 
accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.  

Senior managers service contracts  
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG are permanent 
in nature and subject to between three to six months’ notice of termination by either party. The 
exception to this is the lay members and lay chair that have a three year fixed term contract due 
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to end in August 2015, and the secondary care clinician and sessional GP that both have a 
contract until September 2014. 

Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. 
Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. There were 
no individual performance review payments made to any senior managers during the year and 
there are no plans to make such payments in future years. This is in accordance with standard 
NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department of Health.  

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for within 
NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS pension scheme regulations for those 
who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made during the year to past senior 
managers. 

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is as per the 
CCG annual reporting guidance published by NHS England, and the chief clinical officer has 
determined that the members of the governing body are the senior managers within the 
organisation. For the avoidance of doubt the definition of senior managers is shown below: 

‘Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the 
major activities of the CCG. This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole 
rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments. Such persons will include 
advisory and lay members.’ 

Salaries and allowances 
The table below shows the salaries and allowances of ‘senior managers’ within the CCG. 
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CCG senior managers salaries and allowances 2013/14 
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Dr Stewart 
Findlay 

Chief Clinical Officer 160–165,000    272,500–275,000 435–440,000 

Nicola Bailey Chief Operating Officer (shared salary at 
50% with North Durham CCG) (from 1 
March 2014) 

– – – – – – 

Mike Taylor Chief Finance and Operating Officer 
(until 28 February 2014) 

105–110,000 5,600   180–182,500 295–300,000 

Joseph Chandy Director of Primary Care and 
Engagement 

85–90,000     85–90,000 

Gill Findley Director of Nursing 75–80,000    110–112,500 185–190,000 

Mark Pickering Chief Finance Officer (interim) (from 1 
March 2014) 

5–10,000 100   42,500–45,000 45–50,000 

Dr Helen Moore Clinical Locality Lead Sedgefield (from 1 
July 2013) 

30–35,000    87,500–90,000 115–120,000 
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Vicky Watson Locality Lead, Durham Dales (from 1 
November 2014) 

15–20,000     15–20,000 

Annie Dolphin Chair of Governing Body 15–20,000     15–20,000 

Keith Tallintire Lay Member 5–10,000     5–10,000 

David Taylor-
Gooby 

Lay Member 5–10,000     5–10,000 

Dr John McGuire Sessional GP 10–15,000     10–15,000 

Dr Ian Spencer Secondary Care Clinician (from 1 March 
2014) 

0–5,000     0–5,000 

Anna Lynch Director of Public Health – Durham 
County Council 

–     – 

Lesley Jeavons Head of Service – Durham County 
Council 

–     – 
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Dr Jonathan 
Smith 

Clinical Locality Lead Easington (from 1 
February 2014) 

0–5,000     0–5,000 

Dr Stephen 
Muscat 

Clinical Locality Lead Easington (until 
31 January 2014) 

10–15,000     10–15,000 

Dr Dinah Roy Director of Clinical Quality and 
Performance (until 23 January 2014) 

75–80,000    185–187,500 265–270,000 

Dr Satinder 
Sanghera 

Clinical Locality Lead Durham Dales 
(until 31 October 2013) 

30–35,000     30–35,000 

Peter Carr Secondary Care Clinician (until 28 
February 2014)  

5–10,000     5–10,000 

* Note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over twenty years. This value has been determined in accordance with the HMRC method of 
calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee pension contributions made in 2013/14 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the 
table above relate to the NHS pension scheme members only.
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Notes 
As this is the first full year of the CCG there are no prior year comparatives to disclose. 

The taxable benefits included in the table above all relate to lease car benefits. 

No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior officers. 

The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration from 
the CCG for their role as governing body members: 

• A Lynch, director of public health 
• L Jeavons, Durham County Council representative 

The following senior officer became a joint post shared between North Durham CCG and 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG on an interim basis for six months commencing on 
1 March 2014: 

• N Bailey, chief operating officer (interim) 

No costs have been incurred by Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG for this post for 
the month of March 2014 on the grounds of materiality and as a result the remuneration for this 
post-holder will be reflected fully in the annual accounts for North Durham CCG. From 1 April 
2014, the remuneration for this joint post will be apportioned on a 50:50 basis between North 
Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG for the length of the interim 
arrangement.  

Pay multiples disclosure 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s 
workforce.  

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-
kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the 
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  

Band of highest paid 
director’s total 
remuneration 

Median total remuneration Ratio 

£160–165,000 £39,239 4.1 

Off-payroll engagements disclosure 
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2014, for more than £220 per day and that last longer 
than six months are as follows: 

Dr Stephen Muscat – elected lead Easington locality. These payments have been paid to Dr 
Muscat’s GP practice, and taxation and pension requirements are accounted for by that practice. 
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Payments for loss of office 
There have been no payments for loss of office for any senior managers of the organisation 
during 2013/14 financial year. 

Pension benefits disclosure 
The table below shows the pensionable benefits of ‘senior managers’ within the CCG. 
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CCG senior managers’ pension benefits 2013/14 

Name and title Re
al

 in
cr

ea
se

/ 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 

pe
ns

io
n 

at
 a

ge
 6

0 
Ba

nd
s o

f £
25

00
 

Re
al

 in
cr

ea
se

/r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 
pe

ns
io

n 
lu

m
p 

su
m

 a
t a

ge
 

60
 

Ba
nd

s o
f £

25
00

 

To
ta

l a
cc

ru
ed

 p
en

si
on

 a
t 

ag
e 

60
 a

t 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4 

Ba
nd

s o
f £

50
00

 

Lu
m

p 
su

m
 a

t a
ge

 6
0 

re
la

te
d 

to
 a

cc
ru

ed
 p

en
si

on
 a

t 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4 

Ba
nd

s o
f £

50
00

 

Ca
sh

 e
qu

iv
al

en
t t

ra
ns

fe
r 

va
lu

e 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
3 

Ca
sh

 e
qu

iv
al

en
t t

ra
ns

fe
r 

va
lu

e 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4 

Re
al

 in
cr

ea
se

 in
 ca

sh
 

eq
ui

va
le

nt
 tr

an
sf

er
 v

al
ue

 

Em
pl

oy
er

’s 
co

nt
ri

bu
tio

ns
 

to
 st

ak
eh

ol
de

r p
en

si
on

 

Dr Stewart Findlay 
Clinical Chief Officer 

12,500–
15,000 

37,500–
40,000 

10–15,000 40–45,000 21,000 313,000 293,000 0 

Mike Taylor 
Chief Finance and Operating 
Officer (until 28 February 2014) 

7,500–
10,000 

25,000–
27,500 

35–40,000 115–
120,000 

640,000 852,000 212,000 0 

Gillian Findley 
Director of Nursing 

5,000–
7,500 

7,500–
10,000 

25–30,000 55–60,000 367,000 369,000 2,000 0 

Dinah Roy 
Director of Clinical Quality and 
Performance (until 23 January 
2014) 

7,500–
10,000 

25,000–
27,500 

15–20,000 45–50,000 126,000 296,000 170,000 0 

Helen Moore 
Clinical Locality Lead Sedgefield 

2,500–
5,000 

10,000–
12,500 

15–20,000 50–55,000 240,000 321,000 81,000 0 
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Mark Pickering 
Chief Finance Officer (interim) 
(from 1 March 2014) 

0–2,500 5,000–
7,500 

15–20,000 55–60,000 238,000 277,000 39,000 0 

Joseph Chandy 
Director of Primary Care and 
Engagement 

Nil        

Pension benefits in the table above are disclosed for members of the NHS pension scheme only. 
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Cash equivalent transfer values 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the 
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A 
CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV 
figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another 
scheme or arrangement that the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They 
also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are 
calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries.  

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee, (including the 
value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common 
market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 

Accountable officer statement 2013/14 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each CCG shall have an 
accountable officer and that officer shall be appointed by the NHS commissioning board (NHS 
England). NHS England has appointed the chief clinical officer to be the accountable officer of 
the CCG. 

The responsibilities of an accountable officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and 
regularity of the public finances for which the accountable officer is answerable, for keeping 
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements 
of the accounts direction) and for safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out 
in the CCG accountable officer appointment letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each CCG 
to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the 
accounts direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in 
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the accountable officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the manual for accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular 
to: 
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• observe the accounts direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the manual for accounts issued 

by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial statements 

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
in my CCG accountable officer appointment letter. 

 
 
 
Dr Stewart Findlay 
Accountable Officer 
6 June 2014
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Governance statement 
Governance statement by Stewart Findlay as Accountable Officer of Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG  

1. Introduction and context 
The CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012, which amended the NHS Act 2006.  

The CCG operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for the completion of the 
licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and processes prior to the clinical 
commission group taking on its full powers.  

As at 1 April 2013, the CCG was licensed without conditions. 

2. Scope of responsibility  
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing public money. I also acknowledge my 
responsibilities as set out in my CCG accountable officer appointment letter.  

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. 

3. Compliance with the UK corporate governance code  
Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK corporate governance code are not mandatory for 
public sector bodies, compliance with relevant principles of the code is considered to be good 
practice. This governance statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG had regard to the 
principles set out in the code considered appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 31 
March 2014. 

4. The CCG governance framework 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states: 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good 
governance as are relevant to it. 

4.1 
The CCG has a constitution based on the Department of Health’s model template and has been 
amended and approved to take into account subsequent guidance. Review of the CCG’s 
constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-certification checklist, 
including: 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions 
• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the functions of the 
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governing body 
• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions 
• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health services are being or 

may be provided pursuant to its commissioning arrangements are involved 
• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of registers of interests 

and management of conflicts of interests 
• arrangements made by the CCG for securing that there is transparency about the decisions of 

the group and the manner in which they are made 

4.2 
During the year 2013/14 the CCG governing body met on 13 occasions both in private and 
public, and for which there was an annual cycle of business. Agendas are structured to deal with 
strategic, performance, quality assurance, risk and governance issues. The arrangements meet 
the requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a 
strong accountability framework has been established. They reflect the public service values of 
accountability, probity and openness and specify as accountable officer my responsibility for 
ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. The members report section of the annual 
report outlines the detail relating to the membership practices and governing body and their 
committee and sub-committees and meetings attendance record. 

4.3 
The CCG has continued to operate with a committee structure which reflects guidance and best 
practice, including governing body, executive committee, audit and assurance committee, 
quality, finance and performance and remuneration committee. Terms of reference have been 
agreed for these committees that support the organisation in the delivery of effective 
governance. The organisational structure including key committees is set out below. 
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Description of the established governing body committees 
The roles of each of the governing body committees are set out broadly below. The governing 
body committees have authority under the scheme of delegation to establish sub committees or 
sub groups to enable them to fulfil their role. Each of the governing body committees has 
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Executive committee 
The executive committee, which is accountable to the group’s governing body, will meet weekly 
to manage operational issues and provide executive support for the governing body. The 
governing body has approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for the executive 
committee, which includes information on the membership of the executive committee. In 
addition the group or the governing body has conferred or delegated the operational 
management of the following functions, connected with the governing body’s main function, to 
its executive committee: 

• planning 
• strategy 
• financial management 
• risk management 
• quality  
• clinical governance  
• performance 

The executive committee continually self-assesses its performance, and combined with 
feedback from external stakeholders has been an integral part of the reconfiguration of the CCG 
structures during 2013/14 in preparation for the new financial year. 

Audit and assurance committee 
In line with the requirements of the NHS audit committee handbook and NHS codes of conduct 
and accountability, the committee provides the CCG with an independent and objective review 
of systems of internal control, risk and governance processes and arrangements, and 
compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The committee is a non-
executive committee of the governing body and has no executive powers  

The audit and assurance committee, which is accountable to the group’s governing body, 
provides the governing body with assurance on the effective, efficient and economic operation 
of the CCG’s financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and 
directions governing the group in so far as they relate to finance. The committee will report 
annually to the governing body. The governing body has approved and keeps under review the 
terms of reference for the audit and assurance committee, which includes information on the 
membership of the audit and assurance committee.  

The audit and assurance committee as part of its terms of reference provides an annual report 
of its work to the governing body. A report to cover the first year of the committee will be 
available early in 2014/15. The principal purpose of the report is to give the governing body an 
assurance as to the work carried out to support the accountable officer’s review of the internal 
control arrangements. The committee’s cycle of business enables the audit committee to carry 
out its key objectives necessary to support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s internal controls.  

Details of membership of the committee are contained within the members’ report section of 
this annual report. 

The audit and assurance committee met five times during the financial year 2013/14, and 
highlights from the first year’s work include agreeing strategic work programmes for internal 
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and external audit and the counter fraud service; reviewing the performance and assurance 
frameworks for the CCG to provide assurance to the governing body; receiving updates from 
internal and external auditors in respect of key systems and processes, and received updates on 
the financial position of the CCG. The confirmed minutes from the committee are shared with 
the governing body of the CCG. 

Remuneration committee 
The remuneration committee, which is accountable to the group’s governing body, makes 
recommendations to the governing body on determinations about the remuneration, fees and 
other allowances for employees and for people who provide services to the group and on 
determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the group may establish as an 
alternative to the NHS pension scheme. The governing body has approved and keeps under 
review the terms of reference for the remuneration committee, which includes information on 
the membership of the remuneration committee 

Details of membership of the committee are contained within the members’ report section of 
this annual report. 

The remuneration committee met three times during the financial year 2013/14, and highlights 
from the first year’s work include agreeing payment levels for clinical support into pathway 
development and expenses reimbursement for volunteers. The committee has not yet formally 
carried out a self-assessment of performance for this financial year. 

Joint committees  
The CCG has not entered into any formal joint committees with other CCGs or any other 
organisations. Collaborative working arrangements have been developed with a number of 
other CCGs, including joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North of England to determine 
commissioning for health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding requests, 
including conducting an appeals process. These joint working arrangements do not represent 
formal joint committees and the CCG retains responsibility for making any relevant decisions in 
line with the scheme of reservation and delegation. 

4.5 Review and assessment of board effectiveness and assessment of compliance with the 
UK corporate governance code (2012) 
In reviewing and assessing the effectiveness of the governing body, the guidance contained 
within the UK Corporate code of governance (2012) has been further developed into a 
governing body self-assessment questionnaire. The guidance contained within the code has 
enabled a detailed review of governing body effectiveness against the following criteria – 
leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration and relations with stakeholders on a 
‘comply or explain’ basis. This self-assessment was supported by a dedicated session for the 
governing body to review governing body compliance with the code. In particular, having 
reviewed the effectiveness of the CCG’s governance framework and arrangements in relation to 
the UK corporate code of governance, I consider that the organisation complies with the 
principles and standards of best practice contained within the guidance on a comply or explain 
basis. 
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5. The CCG risk management framework 

5.1 
A risk management policy is in place that takes into account current guidance on risk 
management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 (formerly 
AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its approach to 
assessing risk. 

5.2 
The risk management policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and management of 
clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to commission high quality 
and safe services. This includes the processes and procedures adopted by the CCG to identify, 
assess and appropriately manage risks and the detailed roles and responsibilities for risk 
management. It provides guidance for the systematic and effective management of risk. Key 
elements of the risk management policy include: 

• a clear statement of governing body and individual accountability for delivery of the strategy 
• clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process 
• a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an implementation plan to 

ensure that the framework and risk management awareness is communicated to all staff 
• details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk 
• an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from adverse events 

supported by a ‘fair blame’ culture and approach  
• confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register 

5.3 
The risk management policy was initially adopted from the former County Durham primary 
care trust, along with other systems and processes, and has been revised in year to reflect the 
evolving CCG arrangements for risk management.  

5.4 
Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best practice in compliance with 
accepted standards. It is consistent with NHS England’s risk management strategy and risk 
management policy and procedure issued in July 2013. It takes into account current guidance 
on risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 
(formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its 
approach to assessing risk.  

Our risk management framework is the systematic application of management policies, 
procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying, monitoring, mitigating and managing risk. 
All CCG risks are recorded and managed in the electronic safeguard incident risk management 
system (SIRMS). North of England Commissioning Support Unit provides our risk reporting and 
management via SIRMS. Additionally the CCG assurance framework enables the executive 
committee, audit and assurance committee and the governing body to ensure effective 
arrangements are in place for the management of risks to principal strategic objectives and for 
the sound governance of the organisation. 

Our approach to risk management ensures: 
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• risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control systems within the corporate 
governance framework supported by robust risk management systems and processes 

• the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating to health and safety and 
data protection 

• all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the CCG is committed to 
managing risk appropriately 

• staff can access support and risk management training and development is provided across 
the organisation by the NECS governance team 

• updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff 

5.5 
Our counter-fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s financial 
viability and probity. An annual counter-fraud plan is agreed by the audit and assurance 
committee. It focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. 

Counter-fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed with both the 
governing body and wider CCG employees during the year to cement their knowledge and 
understanding of counter-fraud arrangements, with all employees also required to complete e-
learning training.  

6. The CCG internal control framework 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to ensure 
it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control allows 
risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control 
has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2014 and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts.  

7. Information governance 
The NHS information governance framework sets the processes and procedures by which the 
NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable 
information. The NHS information governance framework is supported by an information 
governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other 
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 
efficiently and effectively. 

7.1 
The CCG has an information governance framework in place comprising an approved strategy, a 
suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of mandatory training, information 
risk management, incident management and has also adopted and implemented the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre’s, Checklist for reporting, managing and investigating information 
governance serious incidents requiring investigation.  
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7.2 
Information governance processes and arrangements are reviewed by the audit and assurance 
committee, with the executive committee overseeing the day-to-day management of systems 
and processes. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott guardian and senior information risk 
owner. 

7.3 
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 
year the CCG received 203 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and no 
requests under the Data Protection Act 1998. All the requests were responded to within the 
statutory timescales. 

7.4 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. We 
are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a programme will 
be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation.  

8. Pension obligations 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS pension scheme, control measures 
are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme regulations are 
complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions 
and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member 
pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in 
the regulations.  

9. Equality, diversity and human rights obligations 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG’s obligations under equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation are complied with as required public sector equality duty set out in 
the Equality Act 2010. 

10. Sustainable development obligations 
The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable development 
indicators. We are developing plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce our 
impact, including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This 
includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability across 
policy development, business planning and in commissioning. We will ensure the CCG complies 
with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, including the adaptation reporting 
power, and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. We are also setting out our 
commitments as a socially responsible employer. 
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11. Risk assessment in relation to governance, risk management and 
internal control 

11.1 
Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including a 
comprehensive risk register that identifies current and prospective risks to the organisation. As 
highlighted above, the risk register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing 
the organisation at an operational and strategic level, across the five areas of delivery, 
development and transition, finance, performance and quality. 

11.2 
The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in terms of consequence and 
likelihood to produce an overall risk score, together with the mitigating action then being taken 
to manage those risks. 

11.3 
Each risk is assigned to a responsible director, who maintains overall responsibility for the risk, 
with each risk also aligned to a governing body committee based on the respective delivery 
area. Quality, finance and performance risks are aligned to the CCG strategic objectives all risk 
registers are shared with the executive committee. 

11.4 
All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by the respective aligned committee to ensure that 
risks are appropriately assessed and that where required action is being taken, with the 
executive committee and governing body performing an overall review of all risks.  

11.5 
All corporate red risks, (scoring 15 or above) identified as having the potential to have a 
significant impact on the CCG corporate objective, are then escalated and specifically reviewed 
by governing body.  

11.6 
The audit and assurance committee ensures the CCG adheres to a robust risk management 
assessment process. Active steps are taken to ensure that it is regularly updated. In addition, all 
CCG policies and reports are assessed for equality impact. 

11.7 
The process for identifying and assessing risks within the CCG has remained unchanged 
throughout the year, with a risk register being in place whilst the CCG was operating in shadow 
form prior to 1 April 2013; see diagram 1 below which outlines the CCG risk process. Given the 
significant change in the NHS over the past year with the transition from the former primary 
care trust to a new statutory entity in the CCG, it is inevitable that there is increased risk in the 
health system during that period of transition, including an increased potential for risks and 
issues to be missed in the transition.  
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Diagram 1 CCG risk process 
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11.8 
To mitigate this as far as possible, a comprehensive review of all risks identified by the former 
primary care trust was performed prior to 31 March 2013 to ensure that all relevant risks 
where identified on the CCG risk register, allowing appropriate action to be taken on a timely 
basis. 

11.9 
Risks have continued to be reviewed and managed during the year with a number of new risks 
identified during the year, together with risks closed as mitigating action is completed and 
issues are resolved. Details of all of the risks that have faced the CCG during the year can be 
found in the monthly governing body reports which are available on the CCG’s website.  
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Current risks  
Table 1 shows the current CCG risk profile and table 2 summaries the current significant 
corporate red risks currently facing the CCG as at March 2014. We are currently in the process 
of reviewing the current risks taking into account the final yearend financial performance 
report and will then be able to update the risk register for May 2014.  

Table 1 CCG risk profile  
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Table 2 CCG corporate red risk summary 

Risk Actions Rating 

Financial risk to commissioners, 
prescribing financial resilience 

A medicines management strategy has 
been agreed by CCGs across the cluster 
area. Medicines management staff have 
been aligned to practises and CCGs to 
support primary care prescribing.  

16 

Financial planning/management in 
2013/14 does not deliver balanced 
budget and control totals due to 
unresolved issues including capital 
/estates charges. 

Financial planning.  

Monthly financial reporting. 

Risk sharing/pooling arrangements. 

16 

Financial planning does not deliver 
balanced budget and control totals in 
financial years 2014/15 onwards due to 
allocations below expectations and/or 
failure to develop and deliver QIPP plans. 

Robust scenario planning. 

Financial risk sharing/pooling 
arrangements. 

Forward thinking commissioning plans 
including QIPP. 

Audit and assurance committee oversight 
of financial planning 

16 

Better care fund 

Creation of pooled budget destabilises 
current health and social market so 

BCF partners working closely to 
understand implications of all 16 schemes 
prior to agreement and implementation. 

16 
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Risk Actions Rating 

increasing costs for commissioners. 

Uncertainty around CCG allocations 
particularly in respect of new specialised 
commissioning arrangements. 

Risk sharing/pooling arrangements. 

Financial planning - contingency 

15 

 

Future risks  
The current pressures on the health service are substantial and will continue to grow with the 
increasing demands of an ageing and growing population having to be met within constrained 
financial resources. This will increase the pressure on current services and potential risks 
around delivery of performance targets whilst maintaining quality and ensuring services are 
safe, within available financial resources. The introduction of the better care fund in 2015/16, a 
single pooled budget across the CCG and local authority, designed to enable transformation in 
integrated health and social care, will require substantial change in the way services are 
delivered with an unprecedented shift in activity required away from hospital and into 
community settings.  

The CCG has agreed a two-year operational plan, incorporating the better care fund, with a five-
year strategic plan in development, all supported by a financial plan. These plans demonstrate 
how these pressures will be managed to enable continued achievement of a balanced financial 
position whilst also delivering on the strategic aims of the CCG. This remains a substantial risk 
however, with the impact of the better care fund in particular representing a significant 
challenge. The implementation of these plans and the schemes designed to take activity out of 
hospital, in 2014/15 will require close monitoring to ensure progress is made in advance of 
2015/16.  

12. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources 

12.1 
The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its resources. Robust 
financial governance arrangements have been maintained throughout the year, including the 
schedule of financial limits incorporated within the governance library of the CCG. Specifically 
including the scheme of delegation, delegated responsibilities and standing financial instruction, 
all of which provide the framework through which the CCG discharges its business. This is 
supported by comprehensive and well-established systems of internal control which help to 
govern the effective use of resources. 

12.2  
Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, based on the medium 
term financial plan, which set the basis on which resources will be utilised. The financial 
planning and budget setting process incorporates a review and prioritisation of commissioning 
intentions and investment decisions to enable the most effective and efficient use of available 
resource. Annual budgets, and the longer-term financial plans, are reviewed and approved by 
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the governing body. This includes plans to deliver against the quality, innovation, productivity 
and prevention agenda.  

12.3 
Both the executive committee and quality finance and performance committees play a key role 
in managing performance and delivery against financial plans, ensuring appropriate action is 
taken to address any issues as required and providing assurance to the governing body that 
resources are being utilised in line with plans. In addition, monthly finance reports are also 
reviewed by the governing body, showing performance against budgets and financial targets, 
including the QIPP plan. 

12.4 
The audit and assurance committee also plays a key role in providing assurance to the 
governing body in relation to financial governance arrangements and the effectiveness of 
systems and processes of internal control. A significant component of this assurance is the work 
of both the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 

12.5 
Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to satisfy 
themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by examining documentary evidence and 
through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is made available to and reviewed 
by the audit and assurance committee. 

12.6 
The CCG also makes use of benchmarking information produced both nationally and locally to 
enable comparison of expenditure and patient outcomes against its peers. This benchmarking is 
a key element of all commissioning processes to help determine value for money for new 
services and pathways. 

13. Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
internal control 
As accounting officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control within the CCG. 

The majority of commissioning support services are procured from NECS, including risk and 
governance expertise, together with the management of the majority of internal control systems 
and processes, for example in relation to finance systems and controls. As with the CCG, this has 
been a year of significant transition for NECS as a new organisation trying to consolidate the 
systems and processes of multiple former PCT organisations and new CCGs. 

A service auditor reporting process has been implemented to provide assurance over the 
effectiveness of controls and processes within NECS.  For 2013/14 this report covers the last 5 
months of the year, with separate assurances receieved by NECS management in respect of the 
controls operating for the first 7 months.  In addition, the results of internal audit work 
commissioned by NHS England, as the host organisation of NECS, have been shared with the 
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CCG and demonstrate no major deficiencies that would have a significant impact on the 
operations of the CCG. 

The CCG also has additional systems of control and review mechanisms internally over the work 
performed by NECS which provide additional assurance that there have been no significant 
internal control issues which have impacted on the CCG. 

The CCG uses a general ledger system provided by NHS shared business services. A user audit 
report has been received in respect of this system providing significant assurance. 

The CCG has outsourced its payroll support services to Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust, and internal audit work undertaken on this service has provided significant 
assurance. The payroll service provider utilise the national electronic staff record (ESR) system, 
which is a single payroll and human resources management system. ESR has itself been 
separately audited by external auditors, which has provided assurance on the controls in place 
in that system. 

14. Capacity to handle risk 

14.1 
As accountable officer I have overall responsibility for: 

• ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management policy, including effective risk 
management systems and internal controls 

• the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework 
• meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance towards our 

strategic objectives 

14.2 
Each of the executive committee members of the CCG is responsible for; 

• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the risk management 
policy 

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to implement 
improvements 

• ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk management 
responsibilities in relation to the risk management policy 

• incorporating risk management as a management technique within the performance 
management arrangements for the organisation 

14.3 
All Managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk management policy 
within their span of control and for ensuring that staff understand and apply the relevant policy 
and strategy in relation to risk management. All staff within the CCG are responsible for 
assisting in the implementation of the risk management policy and for highlighting any areas of 
risk through the incident reporting procedures, a principal means through which the CCG 
manages risk and learns lessons.  
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15. Review of effectiveness 

15.1 
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by 
the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also 
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other 
reports. 

15.2 
As part of the CCGs risk management processes, an assurance framework has been in place 
throughout the year, which provides a simple yet comprehensive method for the effective and 
focused management of the principal risks and assurances to meeting and delivering the CCG’s 
objectives. 

The assurance framework reflects the principal risks associated with the delivery of the CCGs 
strategic objectives. This includes risks around the delivery of the CCGs strategic aims, financial 
stability including QIPP delivery, and development of effective corporate governance and risk 
management.  

The assurance framework details the key controls and assurances in place against each risk, 
together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in controls and assurances where 
required. This is supplemented by detailed risk registers that record the full comprehensive list 
of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and strategic level, across the five areas of delivery, 
development and transition, finance, performance and quality. 

15.3 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the governing body, executive committee, the audit and assurance 
committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
system is in place.  

15.4 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the head of 
internal audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The head of internal 
audit concluded that:  

16. Head of internal audit annual opinion on the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control – year ended 31 March 2014 

16.1 
The purpose of our annual head of internal audit opinion is to contribute to the assurances 
available to the accountable officer and the governing body which underpin the accountable 
officer’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. 
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This opinion will, in turn, assist the accountable officer in the completion of the annual 
governance statement. 

16.2 
The head of internal audit opinion is set out as follows: 

• overall opinion 
• basis for the opinion 
• commentary 

16.3 
Our overall opinion is that significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound 
system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and inconsistent 
application of controls put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.  

16.4 
The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 

• An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning assurance framework and 
supporting processes. 

• An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk based audit assignments, 
contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the 
year. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and 
management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses. 

• Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances. 

16.5 
The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and, together with the opinion, 
should be read in its entirety. 

16.6 
The design and operation of the assurance framework and associated processes 

16.7 
The assurance framework was inherited from the predecessor PCT and has been further 
developed in year. Therefore it has existed throughout the year and although it may require 
some development it is generally ‘fit for purpose’. Risk management processes have been in 
place throughout the year, however, our review highlighted areas for improvement.  

16.8 
CCG management assurances indicate no significant issues have occurred throughout the year 
along with NECS management assertions they are not aware of any significant issues during the 
year.  

16.9 
The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments, contained within 
risk-based plans that have been reported during the year 
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16.10 
During the year 2013/14 we have undertaken our work in accordance with the Internal Audit 
annual plan. In October 2013 we reviewed and refreshed the CCG internal audit plan to ensure 
the continued provision of effective assurance, which was approved by the audit and assurance 
committee. Throughout the year we have reported our findings to the chief finance officer and 
chief operating officer (and executive colleagues where applicable). Our internal audit progress 
reports to the audit and assurance committee have set out the areas covered by internal audit 
work during the year, our results and matters arising.  

16.11 
The majority of this work would indicate that significant assurance opinions have, or will be 
assigned to the majority of the CCG’s systems and processes. There is one audit that we have not 
have concluded at the time of writing this annual report; 

Francis II Review 

16.12 
We do not anticipate that there will be significant issues arising from this review, however, it 
has not contributed to the overall assurance level provided within this report and will be 
reported to the audit and assurance committee in due course. At the request of CCG 
management the audit on arrangements for practice and clinical engagement will be 
undertaken in 2014/15. 

16.13 
By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no ‘no assurance’ final 
reports issued for 2013/14, nor any ‘limited assurance’ areas.  

16.14 
In undertaking our duties we have identified some weaknesses in the design or effectiveness of 
controls in certain systems. We have reported these issues during the year, and post the year 
end, and would specifically bring the following to the accountable officer’s attention for 
potential disclosure with the annual governance statement: 

Governance and risk management arrangements 
• The register of interests was not complete for members and employees of the CCG for the 

whole year. 
• Business plans were not in place for all committees of the governing body, to assist in 

demonstrating the discharge of respective duties.  
• When conflicts of interest arise in committee meetings, minutes have not always clearly 

record the action taken.  
• The risk management policy has not been up to date throughout the year and required 

refreshing, and additional detail.  
• The role of each committee of the governing body in terms of risk management is not clearly 

set out in respective terms of reference.  
• Portfolio risk reports have not been routinely reviewed and updated by responsible 

committees throughout the year.  
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16.15 Third party assurances 
The CCG has received assurance from NECS management in respect of the controls operating in 
the first 7 months of 2013/14. In respect of the last 5 months it has received a service user 
report from NECS listing operating controls and comments on their effectiveness. In addition, 
NECS contracted with NIAS regarding quality aspects of continuing healthcare.  

16.16 
The CCG has also received service auditor reports from Shared Business Services for finance 
and accounting and procurement controls. At the time of writing the annual report the service 
auditor report for payroll had not been received.  

16.17 
The CCG has received some support from NECS governance team. Although we have no 
significant issues, we have discussed some concerns that exist (from our perspective) regarding 
those arrangements which require some review and clarification in 2014/15. 

Audit North (Internal Audit Services) 
May 2014 

17. Data quality 

17.1 
The quality of the data used by the membership practices and governing body is of a good 
standard and they find it acceptable to enable them to make informed decisions. Much of the 
information is derived from well-established national systems and processes, with appropriate 
review and reconciliation mechanisms in place before the data is presented to governing body 
or any other committees. Internal audit work has also reviewed a number of supporting 
systems and the significant assurance reports subsequently received have helped to provide 
assurance on the quality of data received by the governing body. 

18. Business critical models 

18.1 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business critical models 
contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report and I consider that 
appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality assurance. 

18.2 
Any business critical models identified, together with information relating to the quality 
assurance processes for those models, will be provided to the analytical oversight committee 
chaired by the chief analyst in the Department of Health, as appropriate. 

19. Data security 

19.1 
The CCG has published the HSCIC information governance toolkit and has self-assessed as being 
level 2 overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in 
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this regard. In accordance with the agreed internal audit plan for 2013/14 an audit of the 
information governance toolkit self-assessment was undertaken, the scope of which was to 
provide on-going assurance that the processes for determining scores against individual 
requirements was adequate.  

19.2 
There have been no serious untoward incidents relating to data security breaches involving the 
CCG during 2013/14 or up to the date of this statement. 

20. Discharge of statutory functions 

20.1 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the 
corporate governance framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to 
ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters 
reserved for membership body and governing body decision and the scheme of delegation. 

20.2 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, 
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

20.3 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity 
to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 

21. Conclusion 
No significant internal control issues have been identified. 

 

 
 
Dr Stewart Findlay 
DDES CCG Accountable Officer  
6 June 2014 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2014

2013/14
Note £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 4.1 1,868                 
Other costs 5 411,105            
Other operating revenue 2 (396)                   
Net operating costs before financing 412,577          

Financing
Investment revenue -                          
Other (gains) / losses 9 143                    
Finance costs -                          
Net operating costs for the financial year 412,720          

Of which:
Administration costs
Gross employee benefits 4.1 1,603                 
Other costs 5 4,489                 
Other operating revenue 2 (49)                     
Net administration costs before interest 6,043                

Programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits 4.1 265                    
Other costs 5 406,616            
Other operating revenue 2 (347)                   
Net programme expenditure before interest 406,534          

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the financial year 412,720          
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2014

31 March 2014

Note £000
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 13 3,609                      
Cash and cash equivalents 14 187                          
Total current assets 3,796                      

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 20,892                    
Provisions 18 170                          
Total current liabilities 21,062                    

Total Assets less Current Liabilities (17,266)                  

Total Assets Employed (17,266)                  

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (17,266)                  
Revaluation reserve -                                 
Total taxpayers' equity: (17,266)                  

The notes on pages 80 to 104 form part of this statement

Dr Stewart Findlay
Chief Accountable Officer
6 June 2014

The financial statements on pages 76 to 104 were approved by the Governing Body on 3 June 2014 
and signed on its behalf by:
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2014

General 
fund

Revaluation 
reserve

Total reserves

Note £000 £000 £000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS 
Bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition 12              224                       4                       228 
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2013             224                      4                      228 

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year   (412,720)                        -           (412,720)                             
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive 12                   4                    (4)                             - 
Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  
Year   (412,492)                        -           (412,492)
Net Parliamentary funding     395,226                        -             395,226 
Balance at 31 March 2014    (17,266)                        -             (17,266)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2014

2013/14
Note £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (412,577)   
Depreciation and amortisation 12 85                 
(Increase) in trade & other receivables (3,609)         
Increase in trade & other payables 20,892        
Increase in provisions 18 170              
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities (395,039)   

Net Cash Outflow before Financing (395,039)   

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net parliamentary funding received 395,226     
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 395,226     

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents 14 187              

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year -                     
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the 
Financial Year 187              
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies

1.1 Going Concern

1.2 Accounting Convention

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

1.4

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall 
meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health.  
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for 
Accounts 2013/14  issued by the Department of Health.  The accounting policies contained in the Manual 
for Accounts  follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful 
and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by 
the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts  permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of 
the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.  The particular policies adopted 
by the CCG are described below.  They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts.
In accordance with the Directions issued by NHS England comparative information is not provided in 
these financial statements.

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a 
service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in 
published documents.
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using 
the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going 
concern for the final set of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial 
statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities.

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

For transfers of assets and liabilities from those NHS bodies that closed on 1 April 2013, HM Treasury has 
agreed that a modified absorption approach should be applied.  For these transactions only, gains and 
losses are recognised in reserves rather than the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. 
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.  They are not considered to be 
‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with 
the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury.  The Government Financial 
Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been 
accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated.  Absorption accounting requires that 
entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of 
performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities 
transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and 
is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line 
with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5 Legacy Balances

1.6

1.6.1

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

1.7 Revenue

The accounting arrangements for balances transferred from predecessor Primary Care Trusts ("legacy" 
balances) are determined by the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014.  The 
Accounts Directions state that the only legacy balances to be accounted for by the CCG are in respect of 
property, plant and equipment (and related liabilities) and inventories.  All other legacy balances in 
respect of assets or liabilities arising from transactions or delivery of care prior to 31 March 2013 are 
accounted for by NHS England.  No legacy balances were required to be accounted for by the CCG in these 
financial statements.  The CCG's arrangements in respect of settling NHS Continuing Healthcare claims 
are disclosed in note 14 to these financial statements.

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed 
treatment spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date; and   
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services. 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, 
and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income 
is deferred.

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that 
management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or 
programme expenditure; 
•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased 
assets;
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain 
potential future obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
Statement of Financial Position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are considered to relate to:
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

1.9 Other Expenses

1.10 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is 
received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  The scheme is 
an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.  The scheme is not designed 
to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets 
and liabilities.  Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded 
by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the 
time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been 
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or 
constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, 
irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different 
asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful 
economic lives.

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to 
the CCG;
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more 
than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase 
dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.10 Property, Plant & Equipment (continued)

1.10.2 Valuation

1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less 
any impairment loss.  Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as 
expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.  Assets are re-valued and 
depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially 
different from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an 
impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to 
expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there.  A revaluation decrease that does not 
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to 
expenditure.  Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to 
expenditure.  Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other 
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly 
attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original 
specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is 
written-out and charged to operating expenses.

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the CCG’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the Statement 
of Financial Position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 
impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially 
different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are 
determined as follows:
·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on 
modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being 
provided, an alternative site can be valued.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.11 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

1.12 Leases

1.12.1 The CCG as Lessee

1.13 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated 
useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the 
assets.  The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic 
benefits or service potential from the asset.  This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the 
physical life of the asset itself.  Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, 
with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  Assets held under finance leases are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually 
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of 
not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months or less from the 
date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.

At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or 
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If there is indication of an impairment 
loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if 
so, its amount.  Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is 
recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on 
the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Impairment losses that arise from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure.  Where an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount 
but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss.  
The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously 
charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the 
lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching 
liability for the lease obligation to the lessor.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability.  Finance charges are recognised in calculating the CCG’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.14 Provisions

1.15 Clinical Negligence Costs

1.16 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

1.17 Contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account 
the risks and uncertainties.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate 

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual 
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims.  The 
contribution is charged to expenditure.  Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the CCG.

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.  Both 
are risk pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation 
Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual membership 
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses 
as and when they become due.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable 
that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured sufficiently reliably.  A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is 
remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the CCG. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.90%
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 0.65%
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
·                All employee early departures: 1.80%
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring 
by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.  The 
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the 
restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not 
associated with on-going activities of the entity.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.18 Financial Assets

1.18.1 Loans & Receivables

1.19 Financial Liabilities

1.19.1 Other Financial Liabilities

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in 
the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered.  Financial assets are 
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable 
at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had 
the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or 
services have been received.  Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been 
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are 
initially recognised at fair value.

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of 
the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.  Interest is recognised using the effective 
interest method.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time 
of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are 
not quoted in an active market.  After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation 
techniques using discounted cash flow analysis.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at 
‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired.  Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses 
recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  The loss is recognised in expenditure and the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.20 Value Added Tax

1.21 Losses & Special Payments

1.22 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  Irrecoverable VAT is 
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost 
of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are 
stated net of VAT.

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated 
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are 
items that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore subject to special control 
procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

·                IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements
·                IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements
·                IFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
·                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the 
accounts for 2013/14, were they applied in that year.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in 
expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance 
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and 
Interpretations to be applied in 2013-14, all of which are subject to consultation:
·                IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements
·                IAS 28: Investments in Associates & Joint Ventures
·                IAS 32: Financial Instruments – Presentation (amendment)
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2. Other Operating Revenue
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Admin Programme Total
£000 £000 £000

Non-patient care services to other bodies 7                    347               354               
Other revenue 42                 -                     42                 
Total other operating revenue 49                347              396              

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

3. Revenue
2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Admin Programme Total
£000 £000 £000

From rendering of services 49                347              396              
Total 49                347              396              

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the 
bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the rendering of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of 
goods.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1 Employee benefits 2013/14 Total Admin Programme
Total Permanent 

Employees
Other Total Permanent 

Employees
Other Total Permanent 

Employees
Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits 
Salaries and wages 1,552          1,536                16                1,331          1,321             10                221             215                 6                  
Social security costs 136             136                    -                   119             119                 -                   17                17                   -                   
Employer Contributions to the NHS Pension scheme 180             180                    -                   153             153                 -                   27                27                   -                   
Total employee benefits expenditure 1,868         1,852               16               1,603         1,593            10               265            259                6                  

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4.2 Average number of people employed

Total
Permanently 

employed Other
Number Number Number

Total 35               34                      1                  

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects.

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2013/14
Number

Total days lost 91                
Total staff years 32                
Average working days lost 3

The staff sickness absence data is based on the 9 months from April 2013 to December 2013.

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year.

2013/14
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Number £ Number £
£10,001 to £25,000 4                58,145       4                 58,145      
£25,001 to £50,000 1                38,536       1                 38,536      
£50,001 to £100,000 1                73,332       1                 73,332      
Total 6                 170,013   6                 170,013   

2013-14
Compulsory Total

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.  
Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS 
pensions scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS pensions scheme and are not included in the 
table.

This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed during the financial year.  
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the 
benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other 
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not 
designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 
commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
Scheme for the accounting period.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an 
accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme 
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be 
paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution 
rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2004 and covered the period from 1 April 1999 to that date. The 
conclusion from the 2004 valuation was that the Scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3 billion 
against the notional assets as at 31 March 2004.

In order to defray the costs of benefits, employers pay contributions at 14% of Pensionable pay and most 
employees had up to April 2008 paid 6%, with manual staff paying 5%.

Following the full actuarial review by the Government Actuary undertaken as at 31 March 2004, and after 
consideration of changes to the NHS Pension Scheme taking effect from 1 April 2008, his Valuation report 
recommended that employer contributions could continue at the existing rate of 14% of Pensionable pay, 
from 1 April 2008, following the introduction of employee contributions on a tiered scale from 5% up to 
8.5% of their Pensionable pay depending on total earnings. On advice from the scheme actuary, scheme 
contributions may be varied from time to time to reflect changes in the scheme’s liabilities.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year 
ending 31 March 2004.  Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 
31 March 2008.  However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended 
by HM Treasury on value for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service 
pensions, and while future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension 

i i  d  i  2015
4.5.2 Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the 
reporting period by updating the results of the full actuarial valuation.

Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is provided 
to the scheme actuary. At this point the assumptions regarding the composition of the scheme membership 
are updated to allow the scheme liability to be valued.

The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2011 is based on detailed membership data as at 31 
March 2008 (the latest midpoint) updated to 31 March 2011 with summary global member and accounting 
data.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms 
part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery 
Office.
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4.5.3 Scheme Provisions

The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative 
guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions 
that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:

• The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section 
and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 
section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme 
Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant 
pensionable service;

• With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an 
additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HM Revenue & Customs rules. This 
new provision is known as “pension commutation”;

• Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, 
and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar 
year;

• Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the Scheme who are 
permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of 
twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after 
retirement is payable;

• For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by 
the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the 
retirement, regardless of the method of payment; and,

• Members can purchase additional service in the Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by 
the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) 
providers.
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5. Operating expenses
2013/14 2013/14 2013/14

Admin Programme Total
£000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 843              266              1,109           
Executive governing body members 759              -                    759              
Total gross employee benefits 1,602          266              1,868          

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 3,614           720              4,334          
Services from foundation trusts -                    308,627      308,627     
Services from other NHS trusts -                    536              536              
Services from other NHS bodies -                    762              762              
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                    38,074        38,074        
Chair and lay membership body and governing body members 53                 -                    53                 
Supplies and services – general 113              679              792              
Consultancy services 70                 -                    70                 
Establishment 130              4                   134              
Transport 5                   -                    5                    
Premises 37                 933              970              
Impairments and reversals of receivables -                    281              281              
Depreciation 85                 -                    85                 
Audit fees 104              -                    104              
Prescribing costs -                    55,068        55,068        
Pharmaceutical services -                    386              386              
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS -                    544              544              
Other professional fees excl. audit 22                 2                   24                 
Clinical negligence 5                   -                    5                    
Education and training 81                 -                    81                 
Other expenditure 170              -                    170              
Total other costs 4,489           406,616      411,105      

Total operating expenses 6,091          406,882     412,973     

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or 
healthcare services.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2013/14 2013/14
Number £000

Non-NHS payables
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 9,665         40,804      
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 9,459         39,823      
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 97.87% 97.60%

NHS payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 1,387         311,983    
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 1,362         311,525    
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 98.20% 99.85%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2013/14.

7. Income Generation Activites

8. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2013/14.

9. Other gains and losses
2013/14

£000

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment assets other than by sale           (143)
Total           (143)

10. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2013/14.

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or 
within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities.
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11. Operating Leases

11.1 As lessee

11.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
2013/14 2013/14 2013/14

Buildings Other Total
£000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments               932                    5              937 
Total              932                   5              937 

11.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
2013/14 2013/14 2013/14

Buildings Other Total
£000 £000 £000

Payable:
No later than one year                     -                 10                 10 
Between one and five years                     -                    6                   6 
Total                    -                 16                 16 

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased 
cars and the lease of photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease 
terms vary by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement 
involved.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by Community Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS 
Property Services Ltd.  For 2013/14, a transitional occupancy rent based on annual property cost 
allocations was agreed.  This is reflected in Note 11.1.1.  While our arrangements with Community 
Health Partnerships Ltd and NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the 
rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future 
minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
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12 Property, plant and equipment

2013-14
Plant & 

machinery
£000

Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition 228               
Adjusted Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 228               

Disposals other than by sale (228)              
At 31 March 2014 -                     

Depreciation 1 April 2013 -                      

Disposals other than by sale (85)                
Charged during the year 85                  
At 31 March 2014 -                     

Net Book Value at 31 March 2014 -                     

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment
Plant & 

machinery

£000's
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition 4                     
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013 4                     

Release to general fund (4)                   
At 31 March 2014 -                      
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13.  Trade and other receivables Current
2013/14

£000

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,687     
NHS prepayments and accrued income 1,695     
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 450        
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 42           
Provision for the impairment of receivables (281)       
VAT 9              
Operating lease receivables 6              
Other receivables 1              
Total 3,609     

13.1. Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2013/14
£000

By up to three months 204        
Total 204        

£12k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

13.2.  Provision for impairment of receivables 2013/14
£000

Balance at 1 April 2013 -               
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired (281)       
Balance at 31 March 2014 (281)       

The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS 
patient care services.  As CCGs are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no 
credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The CCG has reviewed all receivables to determine whether an impairment in value is required.  In 
determining the recoverability of a receivable, the CCG considers any change in the credit quality of the 
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.  The overall level of credit 
risk is considered to be relatively low due to the proportion of the customer base which is comprised of 
NHS bodies.
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14. Cash and cash equivalents

2013/14
£000

Balance at 1 April 2013 -                  
Net change in year 187           
Balance at 31 March 2014 187           

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 186           
Cash in hand 1                
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 187           

Balance at 31 March 2014 187           

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2014 on behalf of patients.

Current
2013/14

£000

NHS payables: revenue 3,961       
NHS accruals and deferred income 2,128       
Non-NHS payables: revenue 586           
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 14,028     
Other payables 189           
Total 20,892     

16. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2014.

17. Commitments

15. Trade and other payables

Other payables include £nil in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2014.

At 31 March 2014, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the 
liability for early retirement over 5 years.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2014 which 
are not otherwise included in these financial statements.
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18.  Provisions
Current

2013-14
£000

Restructuring 170                       
Total 170                       

Restructuring
£000s

Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013 -                             

Arising during the year 170                       
Balance at 31 March 2014 170                       

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year 170                       
Balance at 31 March 2014 170                       

Restructuring

Legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare 
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is 
responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to 
periods of care before establishment of the CCG.  However, the legal liability remains with the CCG.  
The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on 
behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2014 is £5,304k.

The closing provision relates to compulsory redundancy for 6 members of staff as a result of 
restructuring within the CCG during 2013/14, the costs of which are expected to be paid in 2014/15.
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19. Financial instruments

19.1 Financial risk management

19.1.1 Currency risk

19.1.2 Interest rate risk

19.1.3 Credit risk

19.1.3 Liquidity risk

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits agreed with NHS England, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, from 
NHS England, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day 
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally 
within the CCG’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body.  Treasury activity is 
subject to review by the CCG’s internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being 
in the UK and Sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
currency rate fluctuations.

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG’s revenue comes parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit risk. 
The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the 
trade and other receivables note.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)

19.2 Financial assets

Loans and 
Receivables

2013/14
£000

Receivables:
·          NHS 3,101                       
·          Non-NHS 459                           
Cash at bank and in hand 187                           
Other financial assets 1                                
Total at 31 March 2014 3,748                       

19.3 Financial liabilities

Other
2013/14

£000

Payables:
·          NHS 6,089                       
·          Non-NHS 14,803                     
Other financial liabilities 170                           
Total at 31 March 2014 21,062                     

20. Operating segments

21. Pooled budgets

The CCG was not party to any pooled budget arrangements during 2013/14.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 
operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, 
considered to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of 
resource allocation and assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant 
population.  As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the 
commissioning of healthcare services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.



102

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG - Annual Accounts 2013/14

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

22. Intra-government and other balances
Current 

Receivables
Current 

Payables
31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Balances with:
·    Other Central Government bodies 9                           -                            
·    Local Authorities 107                     2,740                  

Balances with NHS bodies:
·    NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 3,327                  1,532                  
·    NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 55                        4,557                  
Total of balances with NHS bodies: 3,382                 6,089                 

·    Public corporations and trading funds -                            -                            
·    Bodies external to Government 112                     12,063               

Total balances at 31 March 2014 3,610                 20,892              

23. Events after the end of the reporting period

24. Losses and special payments

There were no losses or special payments identified in 2013/14.

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.
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25.  Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body Member Possible Related Party Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

A Dolphin NHS England 146 149 6 62
Lay Chair Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107

Dr S Findlay Bishopgate Medical Centre 211 0 1 0
Chief Clinical Officer NHS Confederation 0 0 11

Wheatley Hill practice 95 0 0 0
Shinwell Medical Practice 55 0 0 0
Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107

J Chandy Joseph Chandy Charitable Trust 0 0 6 0
Director of Primary Care Development & Engagement Carodoc Practice 33 0 0 0

K Tallintire
Lay Member Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107

D Taylor-Gooby
Lay Member Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107

Dr H Moore
GP Lead Sedgefield Ferryhill Medical Practice 228 0 3 0

Dr S Muscat Murton Medical Group 48 0 4 0
GP Lead Easington Shinwell Medical Centre 55 0 0 0

Dr J McGuire
Sessional GP County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 155,060 109 1,632 54
M Taylor County Durham & Darlington NHS FT 155,060 109 1,632 54
Chief Finance and Operating Officer Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107

G Findley
Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107
M Pickering Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107
Interim Chief Finance Officer Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT 47,008 167 108 0

Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107
A Lynch North Durham CCG 192 1 909 2,985
Director of Public Health (DCC) East Durham Trust 0 0 10 0

Durham County Council 8,638 149 2,740 107
L Jeavons Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT 47,008 167 108 0
Durham County Council - non voting North Durham CCG 192 1 909 2,985
Dr W Jose
Locality Chair 2nd - Sedgefield Locality Jubilee Medical Practice 397 1 0 109
V Watson
Locality Lead - Durham Dales Weardale Practice 225 0 10 0
Dr S Sanghera
Locality Lead - Durham Dales Weardale Practice 225 0 10 0
Dr D Roy Oxford Road Medical Centre 15 0 0 0
Medical Director NHS England 146 149 6 62
Dr J Smith
Quality Lead - Easington Silverdale Family Practice 45 0 0 0
N Bailey
Chief Operating Officer North Durham CCG 192 1 909 2,985

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or 
parties related to any of them:

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for 
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. 
Most of these transactions have been with Durham County Council.
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26. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG’s performance against those duties was as follows:

NHS Act 
Section Duty Maximum Performance

£000 £000

223H (1) Expenditure not to exceed income 418,210         412,720                Yes

223I (2) -                        -                               Yes

223I (3) 418,210         412,720                Yes

223J (1) -                        -                               Yes

223J (2) -                        -                               Yes

223J (3) 7,070               6,186                     Yes

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2013/14 2013/14 2013/14
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 411,140 7,070 418,210
Net operating cost for the financial year 406,534 6,186 412,720
Underspend against revenue resource 4,606             884                        5,490           

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed 
the amount specified in Directions

The CCG received no capital resource during the year ended 31 March 2014 and incurred no capital expenditure.

Duty 
Achieved?

2013/14

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 
exceed the amount specified in Directions
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